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The Annual General Meeting of VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society 
Limited was held on Thursday, March 27, 2015, at the Main Auditorium, Centre 
Pointe Mall, Ramsaran Street, Chaguanas.

1.0 CALL TO ORDER
1.1 Credentials Committee Report
A report from the Credentials Committee informed the Chairman - President Charles Percy that at 
5:05 p.m. there were 327 members and 32 guests in attendance.  

1.2 Start of Meeting
President Charles Percy informed the attendees that in accordance with VENTURE’s Byelaw #20, 
the meeting was properly constituted. He invited all present to stand for the recitation of the Credit 
Union Prayer, the singing of the National Anthem, and the observance of one minute silence in 
honour of our deceased members.  

2.0 NOTICE CONVENING THE MEETING
2.1 Miss Esmé Raphael, Secretary to the Board of Directors, read the notice convening the 
Seventeenth (17th) Annual General Meeting.

3.0  ADOPTION OF STANDING ORDERS
3.1  A motion for the adoption of the Standing Orders on Page 6 of the Brochure was moved by Miss 
Dianne Baxter and was seconded by Miss Nicole Browne. Voting in favour of the motion was 
unanimous. 

MINUTES OF VENTURE’s
EIGHTEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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4.0 INTRODUCTION OF MANAGEMENT, BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

4.1 The Management Team, the Board of Directors and all committee members were 
introduced to the attendees.

5.0 PRESIDENT’s WELCOME ADDRESS
5.1 The President delivered the welcome address which focused on the theme: 
Building a Sustainable Credit Pipeline. 

He said; 
VENTURE operates in a competitive landscape and our members have the ability to take 
their business to any other financial institution of their choice. Over the last two years the 
trend shows that members were using VENTURE for their savings, yet trying to find the 
best deal elsewhere for their loans.  

To develop a “sustainable pipeline”, we have to circulate the money within the Credit 
Union and we must ensure a competitive loan rate which causes the money to come to 
us, with a margin that allows us to pay our bills and keep the Credit Union going. 
Therefore, a sustainable credit pipeline is absolutely necessary. 

A sustainable credit pipeline ensures that we have the quantity and quality of loans 
moving smoothly and safety along that pipeline.  

To do this we need to improve the value proposition to the member, by providing a good 
interest rate; excellent quality service; efficient turnaround time and innovative solutions.

The other important element of the sustainable pipeline is the issue of the leadership. The 
quality of the leadership we put in place at the level of the Board, Committees, Executive 
and staff is an absolute imperative.

6.0 ACCEPTANCE OF THE BROCHURE
6.1 Acceptance of Brochure:  A motion for the acceptance of the Brochure for 2014 
Annual Report to be taken as read was moved by Mr Derwyn Rudolfo and was seconded 
by Mr Miles Dillon.  Voting on the acceptance of the brochure was unanimous in favour of 
the motion.

7.0 CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE LAST ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING AND BUSINESS ARISING
7.1  Confirmation of Minutes:  The minutes of the last Annual General Meeting was 
confirmed on a motion moved by Miss Sherese Chee Mook and this was seconded by Mr 
Miles Dillon.  Voting in favour of the motion was unanimous.

7.2 Business Arising 
7.2.1 Late Payments from PLIPDECO:  The Chairman advised that the PLIPDECO 
management was engaged in a collaborative effort to provide on-time payments to the 
Credit Union.  He further reported that, except for one or two payments, PLIPDECO 
maintained on-time payments throughout the year.

8.0 BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT - 2014
8.1 Adoption of Board Report:  A motion for the adoption of the report was moved 
by Miss Elizabeth Raphael and this was seconded by Mr Israel Mankhan.  Voting in favour 
of the motion was unanimous.
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8.2 Highlights from the Report:  
8.2.1 Growth:  The Chairman pointed out that we continued to have rapid 
growth in assets and membership 

8.2.2 Loans:  The Chairman identified the challenge in loan growth was in 
preserving the quality of the portfolio.

8.2.3 Improved Service and Facilities:  The Chairman was asked by a 
member to identify the specific improvements to enhance member experience.  He 
advised that a new administration building was established in lower Couva, which now 
accommodated the General Manager and certain administrative staff.  Additionally, 
internet banking service was instituted to allow limited online transactions for members.   
The Couva branch was recently upgraded to provide a smoother flow of walk-in traffic and 
also new staff hires throughout the organisation to cater for the growth at all branches.     

8.2.4 One Billion Dollar: The Chairman informed the members that the billion-dollar asset 
target was achieved in May 2014, eighteen months ahead of the December 2015 target.  He 
commented that the annual growth rate of assets was in the order of 28% which was aggressive 
and needed to be carefully managed.    

8.3 Return on Assets:  The Chairman reported that the return on assets declined slightly to 6.17% 
from 7.3% from the previous year.  This was mainly due to a lower interest rate spread and an increase 
in the provision for loan losses.
  
8.4 Expense:  Expenses to revenue increased from 33.2% to 40.6% mainly because of the increased 
staff complement and the overheads associated with new building and equipment. 
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8.5 Surplus:  VENTURE’s surplus increased from sixty million dollars in 2013 to 
sixty-four million dollars in 2014 driven largely by interest on loans.  This was achieved in 
the face of stiff competition in the market place for loans, as well as challenges to keep 
operating expenses under control.  

8.6 Delinquency:  The Chairman was concerned that delinquency increased from 
4.76% to 5.93% as this can be an indicator of the quality of loans to members and or the 
economic difficulties that members could be facing.  Both areas needed to be carefully 
examined.  

8.7 Arouca Branch: The Arouca branch which was relocated three buildings further 
east from the original site was performing creditably. Plans are afoot for the construction 
of a new office complex on the lands which was purchased a few years ago.

8.8 Children’s Foundation:  The Foundation continues to provide under-privileged 
children with a holiday camp experience.  One of the camps held in Todd’s Road, focused 
on Agricultural Science and Business and the other two focused on Craft and Culture 
respectively, and these were held in Carapichaima and Morne Diable.  The Children’s 
Foundation is funded from proceeds of the organization and donations from members; as 
well as from the following staff initiatives, Carnival Lime, “Ronnie & Friends” and the Wine 
& Cheese event.  

8.9 Annual Wellness 5K Run and Fun Walk: This is our signature event and it 
continues to capture significant national and international participation, with over 1,200 
competitors. The Chairman acknowledged the contribution of VENTURE’s Vice 

President, Mr Desmond Baxter, MOM, to this event as well as the contribution of CUNA 
Caribbean, the schools and the business community in the Point Lisas Estate and Couva.

8.10 Transformation Committee:  The Chairman apprised members of the 
objective of this committee which was to oversee the strategic direction of the 
organisation as set out in the four pillars of our Strategic Plan. The Committee was 
chaired by Director Samuel Alpheus, and the team continues to chart the course of the 
organisation.  

8.11 Education Committee:  The focus of this committee is geared towards 
enriching the social and economic well-being of our members. This team is led by 
Assistant Secretary, Tracey Elcock, assisted by staff and other members. The team 
focuses on educational programme and communicates to the membership via the 
website, Facebook and the adVENTURE magazine. The team took its outreach to 
another level by hosting a one-day seminar at the Hyatt Regency Hotel on the “Roles and 
Responsibilities” of Education Committees with participation by twenty-six Credit Unions.  
The Chairman extended congratulations to the Education Committee and invited 
members to offer their services to join the team.

8.12 ICT Committee:  Our existing ICT infrastructure needs to be upgraded and 
enhanced and the focus of this committee is to develop and implement a new core system 
in 2015.   This team is led by Director Roger Bertrand with significant assistance from 
staff.
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8.13 Delinquency Committee:  This Committee was formed in 2014 
and was charged with reviewing the delinquency management process in the 
organisation and recommending system improvements as required. The 
committee was headed by Director Gabriel O’Brien and in conjunction with our 
Auditors, KPMG; a Delinquency Control Procedure was developed. 

8.14 Secondary Bodies: 
8.14.1 Trinidad and Tobago Credit Union Deposit Insurance Fund 
(TTCUDIF): We continue our membership with TTCUDIF and the insurance coverage 
was upgraded to $125,000 and $50,000 on shares and deposits  respectively.

8.14.2 Central Finance Facility:  Miss Esmé Raphael continued to serve on the Board 
of this organization and was re-elected President.  They provide Credit Unions with training 
and financial support.  

8.14.3 Association of Credit Union Presidents (ACCUPTT): This is an organization of 
Credit Union Presidents and VENTURE is represented on same by Miss Esmé Raphael.  She 
serves on the joint committee comprising ACCUPTT, the Credit Union League and TECU’s 
Legislative Committee dealing with the proposed Credit Union Act and the revised Co-operative 
Societies’ Act.  

A member said that he understood that there was a preference by the Credit Union Movement to 
continue with supervision by the Co-operative Division with enhanced staffing.  The Chairman responded 
that according to the proposed Act, supervision would be provided by the Central Bank.  VENTURE has 
however elected to put systems in place to be compliant in the event that a new Act comes into being. 

8.15 The Esmé Raphael Bursary:  VENTURE continues to support this bursary and this year a final 
year student in Management Studies was the fortunate recipient.
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8.16 Acceptance of the Board of Directors Report:  A motion for acceptance of 
the report was moved by Mr Thomas Henry and was seconded by Mr. Rawlins. Voting in 
favour of the motion was unanimous.

8.17 Supervisory Committee Report:
8.17.1 Miss Geraldine Lewis presented the report for the period ended December 31, 
2014.  

Mr. Thomas Henry questioned the absence of an audit plan and asked if the Committee 
had one and if all the items were completed.  Ms. Lewis responded in the affirmative and 
questions were raised as to a year-end cash count and the financial statements.

8.17.2 Adoption of the Report:  There being no further questions on the report, 
Chairman Charles Percy requested a motion for the adoption of the Supervisory 
Committee Report 2014.  A motion for the adoption of the report was moved by Mrs Ingrid 
Carpette and was seconded by Mr Hollis Williams.  Voting in favour of the motion was 
unanimous.

8.18 Credit Committee Report:
8.18.1 Adoption of the Report:  Mr Wendell Mitchell presented the report for the 
period ended December 31, 2014. 
 
There  were no significant questions on the report and the Chairman Charles Percy 
requested a motion for the adoption of the Credit Committee Report 2014.  A motion for 
the adoption of the report was moved by Mr Henry Thomas and was seconded by Mr 
David John-Williams.  Voting in favour of the motion was unanimous.

9.0 ELECTION OF BOARD & COMMITTEE MEMBERS
9.1 Returning Officer: Mr Charles Percy handed over the Chair to the Returning 
Officer - Director Roger Bertrand.

9.2 Second Credentials Report:  The Returning Officer was informed that there 
were 655 members and 34 guests present at the meeting.

9. 3 Nomination Committee Report: The report was included in the Brochure along 
with the profiles of the members nominated.

9.3.1 Acceptance of Report:  The Chairman, Mr Charles Percy, requested a motion 
for the acceptance of the Nomination Committee Report. A motion for the acceptance of 
the report was moved by Ms Joan Duncan and was seconded by Mr Travis Sookoo.  
Voting in favour of the motion was unanimous.

9.3.2 Nominees for the Supervisory Committee:  
The following persons were presented:
   •  Miss Alicia Massiah
   •  Mrs Allison Lewis-Warner
   •  Mr Deodath Ramkumar
   •  Miss Esmé Raphael
   •  Miss Geraldine Lewis
   •  Mr Norris Pierre
   •  Mr Ornester King
Members were advised to use the pink ballot and vote for only five persons.
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9.3.3 Nominees for the Board of Directors:
The following persons were presented:

 • Mr Charles Percy
 • Miss Cindy Raphael
 • Mr Lionel Sookoo
 • Mr Naresh Ramoutar
 • Miss Shermella A Rogers
 • Miss Tracey Elcock

Members were advised to use the white ballot and vote for only three persons.

9.3.4 Nominees for the Credit Committee: 
The following persons were presented:

 • Mrs Bernadine Warrick
 • Mr Denis Basso
 • Miss Dorinda Baxter
 • Mr Gerard Callendar
 • Miss Marina Gina Richins
 • Mr Wendell Mitchell

Members were advised to use the blue ballot and vote for only five persons.

9.4 The voting process was completed and the Chair was returned to the Chairman, Mr 
Charles  Percy.

10.0 Auditors’ Report and Financial Statements – 2014
10.1 Auditors’ Report:  Mr Charles Percy invited the KPMG Partner, Mr C. S. Hornby 
to present the Auditors’ Report to the members.  The report as presented in the Brochure 
on Page 41 was read by the KPMG Representative. 

10.1.1 A member requested that the unaudited financial statements should be published 
alongside the audited financial statement in order for members to see what adjustments 
were made and form their own opinion on the financial statements.  The Chairman, Mr 
Charles Percy, asked the Auditor to respond to the member.  The Auditor said it was not 
normal for an Auditor to answer questions on the financial statements but he gave a 
response.  He said that what was being requested was part of the mandate to listed 
companies and that VENTURE did not fall in that category of listed companies.

10.1.2 Acceptance of the Auditors‘ Report:  The acceptance of the report was 
moved by Mr Thomas Henry and was seconded by Mr Derwyn Rudulfo.  Voting in favour 
of the motion was unanimous.

11.0 Financial Statements:  The Chairman highlighted the significant movements in 
the statements and at the end, requested questions from members.

11.1 Overall Concerns:  
11.1.1 Investments:  There were some concerns with regard to the high percentage of 
the portfolio in KCL Capital Market Brokers Ltd and Firstline Securities Limited and the 
possible associated risks.

11.1.2 Investment Committee:  The Chairman informed the meeting that the growth 
of the investment portfolio now warranted the position of a Finance Manager.   
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11.1.3 Growth:  It was highlighted that in light of the accelerated 
growth the Credit Union could become affected by money laundering.

11.1.4 FIU:  VENTURE, as a member of the FIU, has a Compliance Officer 
and regular reports are sent to the FIU.

11.2 Acceptance the Financial Statements:  A motion for the acceptance 
of the Financial Statements was moved by Mr Thomas Henry and was seconded 

by Mr Calvin Richardson.  Voting in favour of the motion was unanimous.

12.0 BUDGET PRESENTATION
12.1 Budget Projection for 2015:  President Charles Percy in presenting the 2015 

Budget for VENTURE informed the meeting that the Board approved this budget in 
December of 2014.  

A member pointed out a possible error under “Provision for Loan Losses” which should reflect 
$12 million and not $ 6,526,519 as stated in the budget.  The President advised that the Board 

reserved the right to allocate from the surplus, additional funds to “Provision for Loan Losses” as 
is prudent at that time.

12.2 Adoption:  A motion for the adoption of the 2015 Budget was moved by Mr Thomas Henry 
and was seconded by Mr Derwyn Rudulfo.  Voting in favour of the motion was unanimous.
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13.0 RECOMMENDATIONS
13.1 Distribution of Surplus

13.1.1 Dividend:  The Board of Directors recommended a dividend payment of six 
percent (6.0%); on fully paid up shares.  The Board further recommended that the 
dividend payment be placed on members’ deposit account after all outstanding arrears 
were satisfied. A motion in favour of the recommendation was moved by Mr Miles Dillon 
and was seconded by Mr Thomas Henry.  Voting in favour of the recommendation was 
unanimous.

13.1.2 Common Good:  The Board of Directors recommended an allocation of 
$200,000 to the Common Good Fund which would be used to assist schools, sporting 
endeavours and community groups. A motion in favour of the recommendation was 
moved by Miss Dianne Baxter and was seconded by Mr David John-Williams.  There were 
no negative votes or abstentions; the motion was therefore carried.

13.1.3 Children’s Foundation:  The Board recommended an allocation of $100,000 
towards the VENTURE Children’s Foundation.  A motion in favour of the recommendation 
was moved by Mrs Denise Forbes and was seconded by Miss Joan Duncan.  There were 
no negative votes or abstentions; the motion was therefore carried.

13.2 RESOLUTIONS
13.2.1 Appointment of Auditors:  The Board of Directors recommended the firm 
KPMG as Auditors for the period January 01, 2015 to December 31, 2015.  A motion in 
favour of the recommendation was moved by Miss Elizabeth Raphael and was seconded 
by Mr Dennis Elcock. There were no negative votes or abstentions; the motion was 
therefore carried.

14.0 OTHER BUSINESS
14.1 The following items were raised by members:

14.1.1 Fraudulent Activity:  A question was raised with regard to the quantum of 
money defrauded.  The Chairman responded that it was not insignificant; however, we 
continue to work with our legal team to resolve the issue in the shortest possible time.

14.1.2 Financial Costs:  A member raised a concern with regard to the significant 
increase in the 2015 budget by $512,000.  The Chairman responded that this was due to 
the write-off of the First National Credit Union (FNCU) investment over a period of three 
(3) years, which is impaired.

14.1.3 Personnel Costs:  A question was raised with regard to the significant increase 
in the 2015 budget.  The Chairman responded that there was proposed growth in staff and 
also a better bonus for staff.

14.1.4 Dividend:  A member asked if the fraudulent activities contributed to the dividend 
payment of six (6%) per cent.  The Chairman responded that was not a factor; however, 
with the advent of new legislation the Credit Union needed to make provisions for same.

14.1.5 Professional Fees:  A member was concerned about the increase in the figure 
budgeted for 2015.  The Chairman responded that VENTURE would be installing a new 
computer system and most of the money would be spent in 2015.  He also said that the 
new system was done by an external consultant which was based on the best advice 
given to the ICT team. 
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14.1.6 Member Loan:  A member requested clarification on a loan received to 
purchase a vehicle, which subsequently was consolidated with other consumer loans.  He 
wanted to know when the loan on the vehicle would be paid off.  The Chairman directed 
him to visit the office to speak to the Operations Manager, Ms Gail Sooknarine, to have 
the matter explained.                                                         
  
15.0 ELECTION RESULTS
15.1 The Chairman, Mr Charles Percy, announced the results of the election as follows: 

15.1.1 Supervisory Committee:  
              No. of Votes
 • Miss Alicia Massiah     369
 • Mrs Allison Lewis-Warner   382 
 • Mr Deodath Ramkumar    377
 • Miss Esmé Raphael     459
 • Miss Geraldine Lewis    330
 • Mr Norris Pierre      322
 • Mr Ornester King      259
  
The members of the Supervisory Committee elected to serve 
for the period of one (1) year were:
 • Miss Esmé Raphael
 • Mrs Allison Lewis-Warner
 • Mr Deodath Ramkumar
 • Miss Alicia Massiah
 • Miss Geraldine Lewis

15.1.2 Alternates:
The two alternates were:
 • Mr Norris Pierre
 • Mr Ornester King

15.2 Board of Directors:       
                 No. of Votes
 • Mr Charles Percy     511
 • Miss Cindy Raphael    291
 • Mr Lionel Sookoo    265
 • Mr Naresh Ramoutar   198
 • Miss Shermella A Rogers  69
 • Miss Tracey Elcock    305 
   15.2.1
The elected members to serve for three (3) years were:
 • Mr Charles Percy
 • Miss Tracey Elcock
 • Miss Cindy Raphael
 15.2.2 Alternates:
The following alternate members would serve until the next Annual General Meeting:
 • Mr Lionel Sookoo
 • Mr Naresh Ramoutar
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15.3 Credit Committee: The results were:
                       No. of Votes
 • Mrs Bernadine Warrick   405
 • Mr Denis Basso     403
 • Miss Dorinda Baxter   455
 • Mr Gerard Callendar   377
 • Miss Marina Gina Richins  408
 • Mr Wendell Mitchell    498

The following elected members would serve for 
two years in accordance with Byelaw #43:
 • Mr Wendell Mitchell
 • Miss Dorinda Baxter
 • Miss Marina Gina Richins

The following members would serve for one year:
 • Mrs Bernadine Warrick
 • Mr Denis Basso 

15.3.1 Alternate: 
The following alternate member would serve until 
the next Annual General Meeting:
 •  Mr Gerard Callendar 

15.4 Destruction of Ballots:  A motion for the 
destruction of the ballots was not tabled.

16.0 VOTE OF THANKS
16.1 Mr Desmond E Baxter, MOM, delivered a 
vote of thanks on behalf of VENTURE Credit 
Union, for all who contributed to the success of 
this year’s Annual General Meeting. He 
specifically pointed out the contribution to the 
Credit Union Movement by Miss Esmé Raphael.
 17.0 CLOSE OF MEETING
17.1 There being no further business, Chairman 
Charles Percy thanked the members for attending 
the meeting, wished everyone a safe journey 
home and closed the meeting at 7:30 pm.
 
Recorded by:
Esmé Raphael

Respectfully submitted

Tracey Elcock (Miss)
Secretary to the Board
July 21, 2015
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
In the financial year 2015, VENTURE continued its pursuit of manageable growth as well 
as its focus on sustainable and efficient operations.  To this end, growth in the 
organization’s asset base was supported by major initiatives in Information and 
Communication Technology (ICT) and Risk Management - two of VENTURE’s strategic 
pillars.

The most significant undertaking for the year was the highly anticipated upgrade of the 
Credit Union’s core banking software to a new ‘state of the art’ system.  This offers the 
potential to significantly improve the organization's efficiency and enhanced internal 
controls.  The system will also contribute to higher quality of data generated, resulting in 
improved decision making, at both the Managerial and Board level.

In the latter half of the year, VENTURE transformed its delinquency management and 
control system. Emphasis was placed on updating relevant policies and procedures, 
increasing staff, as well as, providing company-wide training, resulting in a more robust 
system for handling delinquent accounts.

The fundamental risk faced by the Credit Union continues to be weak economic conditions 
driven by the decline in commodity prices. Despite this, we remain confident that with the 
collective guidance and support of the Board of Directors, Management, staff and a 
committed membership, VENTURE Credit Union will continue to strive towards excellence.
 
COMPOSITION/ATTENDANCE

Board of Directors
The inaugural meeting for the 2015 term was held on April 09, 2015.  The elected officers, 
the alternates and their attendance are presented in the following table.  A total of 20 
meetings were held; 11 regular and 9 special.
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Director Samuel Alpheus was elected Assistant Secretary and performed the role until his resignation 
from the position in November 2015, due to extenuating circumstances.  Director Desmond E. Baxter, 
MOM, was elected as Assistant Secretary in November.

* NOT required by statute to attend meetings.

Tenure of Directors:
Outgoing - AGM 2016   Outgoing - AGM 2017   Outgoing - AGM 2018
Gabriel O’Brien      Roger Bertrand      Charles Percy
Cole Patrick       Desmond E. Baxter, MOM   Tracey Elcock
Samuel Alpheus      Clint Mohan       Cindy Raphael

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Asset Growth
Assets increased by $220 million or 19%, driven primarily 
by an increase in the loan portfolio.  We continue to see 
the successful returns from our marketing initiatives and 
improved efficiency in branch operations. 
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No.  Directors  Position  Attendance  

   Regular  Special  Total  
1  Charles Percy  President  1 1  8  1 9  
2  Roger Bertrand  Vice President  10  9  1 9  
3  Tracey Elcock  Secretary  11  5  16  
4  Desmond E Baxter, 

MOM  
Asst. Secretary  9  7  1 6  

5  Samuel Alpheus  Director  7  7  1 4  
6  Cindy Raphael  Director  10  8  1 8  
7  Clint Mohan  Director  1 1  8  1 9  
8  Gabriel O'Brien  Director  10  7  1 7  
9  Cole Patrick  Director  10  7  1 7  

10  Lionel Sookoo *  1st Alt Director  8  6  1 4  
11  Naresh Ramoutar *  2nd  Alt 

Director  
9  6  1 5  

FOUR PILLARS FOR SUSTAINABLE GROWTH



Return on Average Assets (ROAA)
ROAA changed from 6.1% in 2014 to 4.4% in 2015, 
largely attributable to a decline in net surplus, which was 
driven by increased provision for loan loss expense. 
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

Total Revenue

Revenue increased by $12 million; largely due to an 
increase in interest on loans and an increase in income 
from investments.

The increase in interest on loans;  the larger contributor 
to the revenue increase, was driven by a 21% increase 
in the loan portfolio.

Total Expenses

Expenses increased by $19 million primarily due to 
a larger staff complement and increased provisions 
for loan losses. 

This decision to increase our provision is indicative 
of our prudent risk management principles in a 
period of heightened local and global economic 
volatility.

Net Surplus

Net Surplus decreased by $8 million, largely 
attributable to the increased allocations to 
provision for loan losses and partially offset by the 
increase in revenue.
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San Fernando
14%

Arouca 6%
Couva 80%

CariCris Rating
The Caribbean’s regional rating agency, CariCris, assigned a rating of BBB- (Adequate) 
to VENTURE Credit Union in August 2015. CariCris identified VENTURE’s strong 
financial results relative to local peers and our expanding market share, as key strengths. 
However, they reinforced the need for VENTURE to balance its aggressive growth 
strategy with improved risk management initiatives, contributing to VENTURE’s decision 
to shift focus from aggressive to moderate growth, with heightened emphasis on 
sustainability and efficiency.

Non-Performing Loans

 

Non-Performing Loans as a percentage of Total Loans stood at 5.98%, which has held 
steady compared to the previous year. Given the current economic downturn and some of 
our members facing an uncertain future in their employment, the Board of Directors took 
the prudent decision to significantly shore up VENTURE’s provision for loan losses. In 
2015, VENTURE’s provision for loan losses increased by 117%. In 2016, the 
strengthening of our collections efforts will continue to be a key priority for the 
organization. 

Branch Performance
The majority of loans were booked at the Couva office (80%), with contributions from San 
Fernando (14%) and Arouca (6%).
 

Couva
The Couva branch remains the hub of activity for the majority of members’ daily 
transactions.

San Fernando
The San Fernando branch continued to generate new business, as well as, act as a 
service centre for our South members. It has also allowed VENTURE to attract new 
membership from employees of South based businesses.

Arouca
The Arouca Branch provides us with a presence in the East-West corridor, allowing us to 
service our members who live and work in the vicinity of this area.

Non-Performing vs Perfoming Loans
(as at Dec 31, 2015)

Total
Non-Performing
Loans 5.98%Total Performing Loans

94.02%
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COMMITTEES 
Transformation Committee - Chairman - Director Cole Patrick (Director Samuel 
Alpheus - April 2015 to September 2015)

The Transformation Committee continues to be  charged with the responsibility of reviewing the 
action plans developed by the management team in accordance with the objectives outlined in 
the strategic plan. In summary, the committee meets with key members of the management team 
during the year to review the credit union’s performance in keeping with intended objectives and 
where necessary recommend changes and or seek the Board’s approval for same.
 

The Transformation Committee with the concurrence of the Board of Directors, has reviewed 
the strategic focus and made the following recommendations:

 • Include member service among our top priorities for 2016
 • Redirect more of the credit union’s surplus to reserve accounts
 • Increase staff complement 
 • Change IT platform to a new and robust computerised system and 
 • Review the key policies to ensure tighter controls and defined operating procedures 
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Education Committee - Chairman - Director Tracey Elcock
The Education Committee has once again attempted to meet the needs of the membership in 
the various initiatives it undertook. The committee was also pleased to have two volunteers from 
the general membership who willingly offered their services, namely Ms Allison Skinner-Walker 
and Ms Sherese Chee-Mook.  The committee was able to facilitate the provision of several 
educational programmes and seminars including the following:

SEMINARS          PUBLICATIONS
• Safeguarding Your Family Future    • adVENTURE magazines
• Wills and Probate        • Calendar
• Health & Wellness        • Website updates 
• Using Mortgage for Financial Leverage   
• TTNGL (Phoenix Park) IPO
  

We look forward to meeting members’ needs through our programmes and 
publications and also to new and innovative offerings to maintain relevance and 
interest.

Business Loans Committee - Chairman - Director Clint Mohan
The Board of Directors established a Business Loans Committee to review and 
assess Business Loan applications, before approval by the Credit Committee.  The 
current Committee members include a mix of Board, staff and external financial 
experts.  

In 2015, the Business Loans Committee reviewed eleven (11) Small Business Loans 
valued at $181 million. Seven (7) loans were approved valued at $130 million. 

The Committee assessed each Business Loan on the basis of the in-depth analysis 
provided by the Commercial Lending Unit and utilizing the following information 
submitted by the applicant:
 • Financial Statements for at least three (3) years and Projected Cash Flow
 • Bank statements for the last six (6) months
 • Certificate of Registration/Incorporation
 • Business Plan
 • Company Profile
 • Registered Directors/Ownership
 • Other Supporting Documents

Loans that were not approved did not meet the qualifying criteria.

Building Committee - Chairman - Director Clint Mohan
A Building Committee was appointed by the Board and its main focus was: 

 • Design of a building for the Arouca Branch
 • Redesign of office space for Building #1, at 155 Southern Main Road, Couva
 • Upgrade of Building #2, at 32 Southern Main Road, Couva
 • Relocation the San Fernando Branch
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Safety Committee Report - Chairman - Director Clint Mohan
The Board of Directors established a Safety Committee to review and assess its 
compliance to the Occupational Safety and Health Act 2004.  In pursuance 
of this mandate, the Committee executed the following initiatives:

 1) Conducted Safety & Health Risk Assessment at all VENTURE offices
 2) Developed a Health  and Safety Policy Statement
 3) Developed an Employee Safety & Health Handbook
 4) Developed Emergency Response & Evacuation Plans – All Branches
 5) Provided training to all staff: 
  • Safety Presentations – (SME) ProSafe
  • Five Steps to Organizational Health and Safety - OSHAS 18001
  • Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (C.P.R)
  • First Aid
  • Automated External Defibrillators (AED)
 6) Developed a drill checklist and executed an evacuation drill

ICT Committee Report - Chairman - Vice President Roger Bertrand
The ICT Committee of the Board continued in its mandate to oversee and guide the 
selection and implementation of the new core computer system.  The timeline 
below shows the current and projected phasing of the project to upgrade and 
modernize VENTURE’s computer systems.

Subsequent to the last AGM, the software selection process was completed and the project 
implementation phase for the software started in 2015 July, with an aggressive completion date of 
31 December 2015.  
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AGM 2014 Phase AGM 2015 AGM 2015 AGM 2016

Review of ICT
and way forward

Strengthen ICT Department
and Select new core
software

Upgrade ICT Infrastructure
and Implement new core
software

Implement new strategic
functionality and software
products

1 Phase 2 Phase 3 Phase 4

The ICT Committee and Core Implementation Team comprised the following staff and 
voluntary members:

 ICT Committee        Core Implementation Team
 Roger Bertrand        Richard Dwarika
 Gail Sooknarine-Ragoo     Seeta Soogrim Rooplal
 Naresh Ramoutar       Rajiv Sookoo
 Andre Edwards        Candace Orie
 Travais Sookoo        Keisha Huggins

This phase involved the following major activities:
• Cleaning up of existing data and gathering of new required data
• Design, procurement and installation of new computer and network infrastructure
• Reviewing all operational procedures and determining the 
     best fit for the new software
• Staff training
• Software installation
• Data conversion from the old system to the new
• Software testing
• Cut-over from the old system and go-live on the new

This was an enormous undertaking given the tight timeframe, however, thanks to the 
herculean efforts of our competent VENTURE staff, the project was successfully 
completed on time and within budget (Actual $3.9 million vs. Budget $4.9 million).  

While much of Trinidad and Tobago was celebrating the ushering-in of the New Year, 
our dedicated staff was busy assisting in the cut-over process.  As a result, we were 
able to effectively service our members from the first working day of the New Year 
2016, despite an abnormally high volume of member traffic into each of our branches.
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The new system will provide VENTURE with opportunities for 
more effective controls, faster transaction times, and better 
access to information for decision-making.  More importantly, 
members can expect shorter waiting times, better quality service 
and access to more online services as well as a wider range of 
valued products.

Delinquency Committee  
Chairman - Director Gabriel O’Brien
This Committee was formed in 2014 and was charged with 
reviewing the delinquency management process in the 
organisation as well as recommending system improvements as 
required.  

In 2015 the committee performed an audit on delinquent loans, 
as well as reviewed and amended a comprehensive delinquency 
policy. The implementation of this policy assisted in streamlining 
the efforts for the recovery of weak loans. 

The committee also revised a comprehensive loans policy 
document to serve as a guide to facilitate more prudent lending 
particularly given the current economic climate.

The audit of the delinquent portfolio helped to determine the 
level of exposure as well as the required loan provisioning.  It 
was also felt that a stronger focus was necessary on loan 
delinquency and to assist in this area a consultant was 
contracted and special training conducted for staff.

We thank the members of the committee for giving of their time 
and valuable input over the past 12 months to draft these two 
policy documents.
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STAFF
TRAINING REPORT 2015
Training presents a prime opportunity to expand knowledge, improve interpersonal 
skills, network and keep up-to-date with new developments in the economic and 
regulatory environment, in which an organization operates. Throughout 2015, 
VENTURE Board of Directors, Committee Members and Staff participated in various 
training programmes to improve their ability to perform in their designated roles.  The 
following outlines the external training and development programmes attended:

MEMBERSHIP
Total Membership
Membership continues to grow at a rate of 16% with 4,342 new members joining the VENTURE family 
in 2015.  Membership count now stands at 31,304.  
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Month  Training Attended Facilitator 

March  • Anti- Money Laundering and Counter 
Terrorist Financing 

• The Central Finance Facility Co-operative 
Society of Trinidad And Tobago Limited 

April  

• Risk & Rewards • Arthur Lok Jack Graduate School of Business 

• Document Control Course • Lorson Resources Limited 

• Technology: The Future of Electronic 
Payments 

• The Central Finance Facility Co-operative 
Society of Trinidad And Tobago Limited & 

• Association of Co-operative Credit Union President 
 

May  

• Fraud Awareness, Detection & 
Prevention • Transparency Consultancy Services 

• Winning with Relationship Selling • Dale Carnegie Training 
• Forensic Accounting & Fraud Auditing • International Forensics & Business Institute 

• Member Service Relations • The Central Finance Facility Co-operative 
Society of Trinidad And Tobago Limited 

• FAQ in Industrial Relations • Employers Solution Centre 
• Understanding Legal Documents & 

procedures • Dave Persad- Attorney at Law 

June  

• Extending Probationary Period • Employers Solution Centre 
• Business Professionals

 
• College of Science, Technology and Applied Arts 

of Trinidad and Tobago 
•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

 Winning with Relationship Selling •

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

 Dale Carnegie Training 

August  
 Effective Communication in the 

Workplace  Arthur Lok Jack Graduate School of Business 

 PAYE Workshop The Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Trinidad and  Tobago 

September
 International Financial Reporting Standards 

& Auditing Standards 
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and 
Tobago 

 Enhancing Board Performance Forum 
The Central Finance Facility Co -operative Society of 
Trinidad And Tobago Limited  

November  
 

Association of Co-operative Credit Union Presidents
 

July  Business Protocols for Professionals Arthur Lok Jack Graduate School of Business 

 Organisational Psychology Arthur Lok Jack Graduate School of Business 

ACCUPTT’s 2015 Leadership
Credit Union Conference
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GROUP HEALTH PLAN
VENTURE continued its partnership with SAGICOR to provide a Health Plan to its membership. This 
product remains a rewarding and successful service and we encourage more members to access to 
utilize its benefits.

CUNA INSURANCE
VENTURE’s association with CUNA Caribbean as a service provider for the insurance on share and loan 
protection on the death of a member continues to be a success and a benefit to the member’s beneficiary. 

The Family Indemnity Plan (FIP) is another product used for funeral expenses and covers up to 6 family 
members. The promotion of this Plan to our members is ongoing.

In 2015, VENTURE Credit Union placed third (3rd) in the Family Indemnity Plan (FIP) Jumpstart Incentive 
program held by the CUNA Mutual Group. The five VENTURE staff members, with the highest enrolment 
rate over the incentive period, were also awarded prizes for their efforts.

Anand Amarsingh Farzan Baksh Kenrick Francis Peter Sahadeo 
Anastasia Monifa C Callender Francis Calcut Keron Baird Randolph Daniel 
Arit Efiong Asanam-Peters Gayapersad Beharry Khemraj Hargobin Rena Elizabeth Christopher 
Artma Bujarath Gloria Cuffie Kurt R Gordon Renny Hanumansingh 
Basdeo Choon Hannah Marie Bereaux Lincoln Karmody Reynold Robain 
Bernell Jerome James Heneage Duncan Lucy Leu Ricardia T C Marcelline 

Bing Anthony Duncan Hollis Alexander Wilson Mahadeo Sharma Robert Seecharan 

Charmaine Kathy-Ann Guerra Hosain Ali Mark Azim Mohammed Shirley Ramdeen 

Cynthia Fitzwilliam Ian Lawrence Marva Hyacinth Buntin Sylvia Julien 

Cynthia Matthews Ivan Sahadeo Michael Halls Tamika Mathison 

Daphne Joseph John  D Camacho Michael Thompson 
Vernon Randolph Haynes 

Deokienanan Masnan Josephine Williams-Lawrence Norman Ramnarine 
Veronica Francis  (S) 

Derek Marcel Greene Karan Maraj Patsy Khasri Seemungal 
Vijay Basdeo 

Donna Carter Kenneth Christopher Kirk Peter Rodney 
Wendy-Ann John 
Yamen Malouhi 

Deceased Members in 2015
The Board mourns the passing of the following members and extends condolences to their families:
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NATIONAL BODIES
Trinidad and Tobago Credit Union Deposit Insurance Fund (TTCUDIF)
VENTURE’s contribution and membership in this organization provides coverage of deposits 
and shares. In 2015, Venture Credit Union Share protection coverage increased from 
$75,000 to $125,000, while protection on Deposits remains at $50,000.

Central Finance Facility
The CFF continued to provide training and investment 
opportunities for member Credit Unions and Co-operatives.  
Miss Esmé Raphael is VENTURE’s representative on CFF’s 
Board of Directors and was elected President for the twelfth 
consecutive year.

Association of Co-operative Credit Union 
Presidents (ACCUPTT)
This organization of credit union Presidents is a lobby group 
representing the interest of its member units.   ACCUPTT 
comprises 18 presidents who represent credit unions that 
collectively account for 70% of the movement’s assets and 
55% of its membership. 

During the 2014/2015 term, ACCUPTT cooperated with the 
Co-operative Credit Union League of Trinidad and Tobago 
(CCULTT) in lobbying against the proposed new Credit Union 
Bill. ACCUPTT also hosted several training programmes that 
were particularly relevant to credit union management, all of 
which were well supported and highly rated by attendees.  
VENTURE has two representatives on this body; our Vice 
President, Mr. Roger Bertrand and Miss Esmé Raphael, 
member of Supervisory Committee.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY - (CSR)

Common Good Fund - Chairman
Director Desmond E. Baxter, MOM
VENTURE was able to make donations to one hundred and 
sixty four (164) organizations.  These donations were made 
upon requests from a wide range of organizations which 
included schools, village councils, religious, cultural, and 
sports organizations, NGO's and other social groups.
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The donations covered a wide geographical spread including Toco to Point 
Fortin, San Fernando, Couva, Port of Spain, Arouca and Tobago. The donations 
were well received and most of the recipients returned thanks and appreciation. 
To those organizations whose requests could not be met, letters were sent 
informing them of our regrets for not being able to accommodate same.

Children’s Foundation
The VENTURE Children’s Foundation was formed in October 2006 with the 
objective of providing under privileged children the opportunity to enjoy holiday 
camp initiatives through community based activities held over the July/August 
vacation.  The funding for the Children’s Foundation is supported by allocations 
from the annual surplus, individual member contributions, proceeds from the 
staff Carnival Lime and the annual “Wine & Cheese” events.

Ronnie and Friends Carnival Lime
This initiative started as a ‘lime’ by staff members and quickly grew to become 
an excellent CSR initiative with all the proceeds going towards the Children’s 
Foundation.  

Wine and Cheese Event
This All Inclusive Wine and Cheese event was held on Saturday 14th November, 
2015 at the Couva/ Point Lisas Chamber of Commerce.  The theme was 70’s 
retro and attendees came decked in their costumes, with prizes awarded to the 
best dressed individuals and couples.  The event continues to be well supported 
by the general membership and corporate entities that interface with VENTURE 
and provides a valuable socializing and networking opportunity.
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Children’s Foundation Activities 
Vacation Camp
The Foundation held vacation camps for three (3) weeks 
over the July-August vacation at various locations:

• Todd’s Road (held from July 15th – July 31st, 2015)
• Carapichaima (held from July 20th – August 7th, 2015)
• Morne Diable (held from July 27th –  August 14th, 2015)

A total of 92 students attended the camps where they participated in a 
variety of activities such as:

Performing Arts: Students learned to play the steel pan and recorder, whilst also 
participating in drama and choir practice.

Arts and craft: Time was allotted for students to make jewellery, table-mats, 
collages, picture frames etc.

Agro processing: The participants  planted lettuce, made candles, soap, butter, 
condensed milk and lip gloss

Life skills: Attendees received guidance on etiquette, financial management, career 
planning, hygiene etc.

Physical Education: Health and wellness was included as a core part of the 
curriculum with students playing cricket, table tennis, gymnastics, dancing etc.

The camp attendees were also taken on several field trips during the 
period including:

• Emperor’s Valley Zoo & Botanical Garden
• Wild Fowl Trust
• Lookout at Lady Young Road
• San Fernando Hill 

Overall, the camp was a success, with the children developing both their educational 
and social skills whilst have great fun.  
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Ms Esmé Raphael, leading a life 
skills session, with the attendees 

of the Children’s Foundation 
Vacation Camp, 2015
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Annual 5K Run and Fun Walk
VENTURE’s 16th Annual 5K Run and Fun Walk took place on Sunday September 13th, 
2015. This event attracted over 1,300 participants from Trinidad and Tobago and 
international locations, such as, Kenya, Guyana, Cuba and Venezuela. It was held in 
collaboration with CUNA Mutual Group and Athletics Central and was supported by 
VENTURE’s host companies, and the wider business community. Successful 
co-ordination of the event with detailed planning and execution by VENTURE 5K 
Committee Chairman, Mr Desmond Baxter MOM., together with Mr Alan Baboolal, 
Secretary of the National Amateur Athletic Association (NAAA) and other committee 
members. The event served to bring members of various communities together and 
emphasized the importance of health and wellness.

Camp A.B.L.E.
Camp A.B.L.E. is a volunteer, non-profit Sports camp designed for students with a 
hearing disability, aged 14-17 years.  Over the years VENTURE has assisted this camp 
and in 2015 a camp was held in July at Bethel in Tobago. VENTURE in collaboration 
with volunteer Special Educators and the Trinidad and Tobago Coast Guard provided 
the kids with a wonderful experience.

THE ESMÉ RAPHAEL BURSARY

The Esmé Raphael Bursary sponsored by VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society 
Limited for final year students pursuing Management Studies at the University of the West 
Indies, St. Augustine. The bursary has been sponsored by VENTURE since 1999. The award 
of this bursary is based on merit and economic circumstances and the assessment and award 
process is rigorous and thorough.  Ms. Natasha Baksh was the successful recipient of the 
award for 2015.  
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L-R – Abbey Mohammed, Ag GM Operations, Esmé Raphael,
Natasha Baksh and Gail Sooknarine-Ragoo, Ag Chief Executive Officer
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Voting System
In an attempt to improve the voting process at the Annual 
General Meeting, the Board made a decision to adopt a 
secure, accountable and independent electronic voting 
system for 2016.  This voting process will be supervised 
by representatives of the Co-operative Development 
Division.

CONCLUSION
In the midst of a depressed global economy and the 
consequential impact on the local economic 
environment, VENTURE remains focused on preserving 
its members’ funds: providing competitive returns and 
securing the future of the organization. 

We will continue to identify and explore new opportunities 
for improving our value proposition to our members, 
particularly through the full use of our new core system. 

As we look forward to 2016, I congratulate the members 
of the Board, Committee members and all Staff for yet 
another successful year. 

On behalf of the Board, I wish to convey sincere thanks 
to all members for your trust, loyalty and confidence in 
our leadership and we ask for your continued support 
through these challenging times ahead.

Charles E Percy
President
Feb 29, 2016
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Introduction
In accordance with VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (hereinafter 
referred to VENTURE Credit Union) Bye-laws 22(a), 49 and 50(a)-(f), the Supervisory 
Committee is pleased to report to members, it carried out its plan of oversight for the 
period April 2015 to March 2016.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
REPORT 2015

At the Annual General Meeting held on Thursday, March 26, 2015, 
five members and two alternates were elected to serve on the 
Supervisory Committee.
 
 •   Miss Geraldine Lewis  
 •   Miss Alicia Massiah 
 •   Miss Esmé Raphael 
 •   Mr Deodath Ramkumar 
 •   Ms Allison Lewis-Warner  
 •   Mr Norris Pierre - 1st Alternate

 •   Mr Ornester King - 2nd Alternate 

The Committee convened its first meeting on April 13, 2015 to elect 
a Chairperson and a Secretary as per Bye-law 49. 

 •   Miss Geraldine Lewis - Chairperson

 •   Miss Alicia Massiah   - Secretary

During the last quarter of 2015 both the Chairperson and Secretary 
were taken ill thus making them unable to perform the various duties 
of their respective offices. On October 19, 2015, Miss. Esmé 
Raphael and Ms. Alison Lewis-Warner were appointed Interim 
Chairman and Acting Secretary respectively.

On January 11, 2016, the Secretary resigned.  Mrs Allison Lewis-Warner continued in the 
position of Secretary and Mr. Norris Pierre, the first alternate was appointed a member of 
the Committee.  The current composition of the Committee is:

•   Miss Geraldine Lewis   Chairman

•   Miss Esmé Raphael    Interim Chairman

•   Miss Allison Lewis-Warner  Secretary

•   Mr Deodath Ramkumar   Member

•   Mr Norris Pierre    Member

•   Mr Ornester King   2nd Alternate Member

Oath of Secrecy
All elected members and alternate members of the Committee signed an “Oath of 
Secrecy” in accordance with Bye-law 27.

Activities of the Supervisory Committee during 2015
The Committee undertook the following activities prescribed by the Bye-Laws of 
VENTURE Credit Union during 2015:
i.     Elected its Chairman and Secretary
ii     Conducted the election of the Senior Officers/Executive of the Board
iii.    Examined minutes of the Board Meetings
iv.    Attended all statutory meetings of the Board of Directors
v.    Prepared its Audit Plan for 2015
vi.   Reviewed the monthly accounts and drew management’s attention 
       to any inconsistencies observed therein
vii.  Reviewed the work done by the Internal Auditor

Audit Plan 2015: The Committee met with the Internal Auditor and discussed the 
Internal Auditor’s work program for 2015 before developing its audit plan to cover areas 
which were not part of the Internal Audit focus for 2015. 

Implementation of the Audit Plan
Operational audits
During July 2015 members and alternates of the Supervisory Committee visited 
all three branches on the same day and:

     •   Observed the closing cash procedures
     •   The collation of documentation to support members’ applications 
          being forwarded to the Board for acceptance
     •   The documentation supporting the loans issued during the previous week
     •   The general operations of the branch

Summary of findings - Operational Audits
Subsequent to the audit visits, the Committee met and discussed its concerns with 
Management.  In particular the Committee had concerns with:

i.     security procedures with respect to various processes at each branch;
ii.     inadequacies in operational procedures that gave rise to excessive delays in the 
       provision of member services
iii.    the membership application process which gave rise to a number of applications being    
       witheld for more documents: and 
iv.   loan-sales policy and procedures
 
Management considered and investigated the concerns raised by the Committee and 
implemented improvements without undue delay.

Loan audits
As a follow up to the initial visits to the branches, Committee members and alternates, 
undertook a review of the loans procedures and a detailed examination of the 
documentation supporting the following types of loans during the months of August 
through November 2015:

   •   Delinquent loans
   •   KPMG Delinquency Analysis
   •   Business loans
   •   Loans in excess of $1 million

Summary of Findings - Loan Audits
Having reviewed the loans mentioned above and the loans procedures, the Committee 
recommended to Management and the Board to work closely with members to assist them 
in restructuring loan payment to curb/avoid delinquency. This should:

i.     significantly scale down the issue of new business loans in excess of $1 million given 
       the current economic environment and its resource constraints
ii.    ramp up its collections program which the Committee noted yielded good results 
       during the third quarter of 2015

iii.    revamp the Loan Procedures, have them authorized by the Board and roll out same 
       to the loans officers in the shortest possible time

Computer Changeover Audit
The Committee assisted in ensuring that the balances in the legacy computer system were 
accurately migrated to the new computer system.

The Committee was satisfied that the migration was satisfactorily completed.

Verification of Members’ balances
Regrettably the Committee was not able to undertake this exercise but suggests that the 
new Supervisory Committee undertake this task during 2016.

Meetings
A total of seventeen (17) meetings were held during the period; eleven (11) regular and six 
(6) special.  The records show the attendance status:

Closing remarks
The Committee thanks first of all the junior staff for their support during 
our term of office. Their willingness to remain after their working hours 
during our un-announced audit visit to the branches is much 
appreciated.

The Committee also thanks Management for its co-operation and 
support during the year and in particular for its timely adoption and 
implementation of our suggestions.

Finally, The Committee thanks Miss Geraldine Lewis, Mrs Allison 
Lewis-Warner and Miss Alicia Massiah for their invaluable contribution 
and commitment to the work of the Committee, and you the members 
for allowing us the opportunity to serve during the period 2015 to 2016.  
Special thanks are extended to Mr Norris Pierre whose contributions 
surpassed the call as an alternate member of the Committee before 
being elevated to member status.

Respectfully submitted

Esmé Raphael
Interim Chairman
Supervisory Committee
February 5 2016
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Introduction
In accordance with VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (hereinafter 
referred to VENTURE Credit Union) Bye-laws 22(a), 49 and 50(a)-(f), the Supervisory 
Committee is pleased to report to members, it carried out its plan of oversight for the 
period April 2015 to March 2016.

At the Annual General Meeting held on Thursday, March 26, 2015, 
five members and two alternates were elected to serve on the 
Supervisory Committee.
 
 •   Miss Geraldine Lewis  
 •   Miss Alicia Massiah 
 •   Miss Esmé Raphael 
 •   Mr Deodath Ramkumar 
 •   Ms Allison Lewis-Warner  
 •   Mr Norris Pierre - 1st Alternate

 •   Mr Ornester King - 2nd Alternate 

The Committee convened its first meeting on April 13, 2015 to elect 
a Chairperson and a Secretary as per Bye-law 49. 

 •   Miss Geraldine Lewis - Chairperson

 •   Miss Alicia Massiah   - Secretary

During the last quarter of 2015 both the Chairperson and Secretary 
were taken ill thus making them unable to perform the various duties 
of their respective offices. On October 19, 2015, Miss. Esmé 
Raphael and Ms. Alison Lewis-Warner were appointed Interim 
Chairman and Acting Secretary respectively.

On January 11, 2016, the Secretary resigned.  Mrs Allison Lewis-Warner continued in the 
position of Secretary and Mr. Norris Pierre, the first alternate was appointed a member of 
the Committee.  The current composition of the Committee is:

•   Miss Geraldine Lewis   Chairman

•   Miss Esmé Raphael    Interim Chairman

•   Miss Allison Lewis-Warner  Secretary

•   Mr Deodath Ramkumar   Member

•   Mr Norris Pierre    Member

•   Mr Ornester King   2nd Alternate Member

Oath of Secrecy
All elected members and alternate members of the Committee signed an “Oath of 
Secrecy” in accordance with Bye-law 27.

Activities of the Supervisory Committee during 2015
The Committee undertook the following activities prescribed by the Bye-Laws of 
VENTURE Credit Union during 2015:
i.     Elected its Chairman and Secretary
ii     Conducted the election of the Senior Officers/Executive of the Board
iii.    Examined minutes of the Board Meetings
iv.    Attended all statutory meetings of the Board of Directors
v.    Prepared its Audit Plan for 2015
vi.   Reviewed the monthly accounts and drew management’s attention 
       to any inconsistencies observed therein
vii.  Reviewed the work done by the Internal Auditor

Audit Plan 2015: The Committee met with the Internal Auditor and discussed the 
Internal Auditor’s work program for 2015 before developing its audit plan to cover areas 
which were not part of the Internal Audit focus for 2015. 

No. Area of Audit  Details  Risk  

1 Loans  Review:  
•  All category of loans  
•  Insurance Polices  
•  Instrument of Charge  •

 
Pledges

 

High  

2 Staff and Officers  Review:  
•  Loans  
•  Share withdrawals  

High  

3 Recoveries/Delinquency  Follow-up on audit done by KPMG  
 

High  

4 Reports  •  Board Minutes & Actions  
•  

Attest to Monthly Financial Statements 

 

High  

5
 

Cash Counts
 

Procedure
 

High
 

6 ICT  Oversight of change-over to new IT system
 

 

High  

7
 

General
 

•
 

Representation at Board Meetings
 •

 
Review of Policies

 •

 

Review Delegation of Authority 

 
•

 

Review Documentation

 

Medium

Implementation of the Audit Plan
Operational audits
During July 2015 members and alternates of the Supervisory Committee visited 
all three branches on the same day and:

     •   Observed the closing cash procedures
     •   The collation of documentation to support members’ applications 
          being forwarded to the Board for acceptance
     •   The documentation supporting the loans issued during the previous week
     •   The general operations of the branch

Summary of findings - Operational Audits
Subsequent to the audit visits, the Committee met and discussed its concerns with 
Management.  In particular the Committee had concerns with:

i.     security procedures with respect to various processes at each branch;
ii.     inadequacies in operational procedures that gave rise to excessive delays in the 
       provision of member services
iii.    the membership application process which gave rise to a number of applications being    
       witheld for more documents: and 
iv.   loan-sales policy and procedures
 
Management considered and investigated the concerns raised by the Committee and 
implemented improvements without undue delay.

Loan audits
As a follow up to the initial visits to the branches, Committee members and alternates, 
undertook a review of the loans procedures and a detailed examination of the 
documentation supporting the following types of loans during the months of August 
through November 2015:

   •   Delinquent loans
   •   KPMG Delinquency Analysis
   •   Business loans
   •   Loans in excess of $1 million

Summary of Findings - Loan Audits
Having reviewed the loans mentioned above and the loans procedures, the Committee 
recommended to Management and the Board to work closely with members to assist them 
in restructuring loan payment to curb/avoid delinquency. This should:

i.     significantly scale down the issue of new business loans in excess of $1 million given 
       the current economic environment and its resource constraints
ii.    ramp up its collections program which the Committee noted yielded good results 
       during the third quarter of 2015

iii.    revamp the Loan Procedures, have them authorized by the Board and roll out same 
       to the loans officers in the shortest possible time

Computer Changeover Audit
The Committee assisted in ensuring that the balances in the legacy computer system were 
accurately migrated to the new computer system.

The Committee was satisfied that the migration was satisfactorily completed.

Verification of Members’ balances
Regrettably the Committee was not able to undertake this exercise but suggests that the 
new Supervisory Committee undertake this task during 2016.

Meetings
A total of seventeen (17) meetings were held during the period; eleven (11) regular and six 
(6) special.  The records show the attendance status:

Closing remarks
The Committee thanks first of all the junior staff for their support during 
our term of office. Their willingness to remain after their working hours 
during our un-announced audit visit to the branches is much 
appreciated.

The Committee also thanks Management for its co-operation and 
support during the year and in particular for its timely adoption and 
implementation of our suggestions.

Finally, The Committee thanks Miss Geraldine Lewis, Mrs Allison 
Lewis-Warner and Miss Alicia Massiah for their invaluable contribution 
and commitment to the work of the Committee, and you the members 
for allowing us the opportunity to serve during the period 2015 to 2016.  
Special thanks are extended to Mr Norris Pierre whose contributions 
surpassed the call as an alternate member of the Committee before 
being elevated to member status.

Respectfully submitted

Esmé Raphael
Interim Chairman
Supervisory Committee
February 5 2016
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Introduction
In accordance with VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (hereinafter 
referred to VENTURE Credit Union) Bye-laws 22(a), 49 and 50(a)-(f), the Supervisory 
Committee is pleased to report to members, it carried out its plan of oversight for the 
period April 2015 to March 2016.

At the Annual General Meeting held on Thursday, March 26, 2015, 
five members and two alternates were elected to serve on the 
Supervisory Committee.
 
 •   Miss Geraldine Lewis  
 •   Miss Alicia Massiah 
 •   Miss Esmé Raphael 
 •   Mr Deodath Ramkumar 
 •   Ms Allison Lewis-Warner  
 •   Mr Norris Pierre - 1st Alternate

 •   Mr Ornester King - 2nd Alternate 

The Committee convened its first meeting on April 13, 2015 to elect 
a Chairperson and a Secretary as per Bye-law 49. 

 •   Miss Geraldine Lewis - Chairperson

 •   Miss Alicia Massiah   - Secretary

During the last quarter of 2015 both the Chairperson and Secretary 
were taken ill thus making them unable to perform the various duties 
of their respective offices. On October 19, 2015, Miss. Esmé 
Raphael and Ms. Alison Lewis-Warner were appointed Interim 
Chairman and Acting Secretary respectively.

On January 11, 2016, the Secretary resigned.  Mrs Allison Lewis-Warner continued in the 
position of Secretary and Mr. Norris Pierre, the first alternate was appointed a member of 
the Committee.  The current composition of the Committee is:

•   Miss Geraldine Lewis   Chairman

•   Miss Esmé Raphael    Interim Chairman

•   Miss Allison Lewis-Warner  Secretary

•   Mr Deodath Ramkumar   Member

•   Mr Norris Pierre    Member

•   Mr Ornester King   2nd Alternate Member

Oath of Secrecy
All elected members and alternate members of the Committee signed an “Oath of 
Secrecy” in accordance with Bye-law 27.

Activities of the Supervisory Committee during 2015
The Committee undertook the following activities prescribed by the Bye-Laws of 
VENTURE Credit Union during 2015:
i.     Elected its Chairman and Secretary
ii     Conducted the election of the Senior Officers/Executive of the Board
iii.    Examined minutes of the Board Meetings
iv.    Attended all statutory meetings of the Board of Directors
v.    Prepared its Audit Plan for 2015
vi.   Reviewed the monthly accounts and drew management’s attention 
       to any inconsistencies observed therein
vii.  Reviewed the work done by the Internal Auditor

Audit Plan 2015: The Committee met with the Internal Auditor and discussed the 
Internal Auditor’s work program for 2015 before developing its audit plan to cover areas 
which were not part of the Internal Audit focus for 2015. 

Implementation of the Audit Plan
Operational audits
During July 2015 members and alternates of the Supervisory Committee visited 
all three branches on the same day and:

     •   Observed the closing cash procedures
     •   The collation of documentation to support members’ applications 
          being forwarded to the Board for acceptance
     •   The documentation supporting the loans issued during the previous week
     •   The general operations of the branch

Summary of findings - Operational Audits
Subsequent to the audit visits, the Committee met and discussed its concerns with 
Management.  In particular the Committee had concerns with:

i.     security procedures with respect to various processes at each branch;
ii.     inadequacies in operational procedures that gave rise to excessive delays in the 
       provision of member services
iii.    the membership application process which gave rise to a number of applications being    
       witheld for more documents: and 
iv.   loan-sales policy and procedures
 
Management considered and investigated the concerns raised by the Committee and 
implemented improvements without undue delay.

Loan audits
As a follow up to the initial visits to the branches, Committee members and alternates, 
undertook a review of the loans procedures and a detailed examination of the 
documentation supporting the following types of loans during the months of August 
through November 2015:

   •   Delinquent loans
   •   KPMG Delinquency Analysis
   •   Business loans
   •   Loans in excess of $1 million

Summary of Findings - Loan Audits
Having reviewed the loans mentioned above and the loans procedures, the Committee 
recommended to Management and the Board to work closely with members to assist them 
in restructuring loan payment to curb/avoid delinquency. This should:

i.     significantly scale down the issue of new business loans in excess of $1 million given 
       the current economic environment and its resource constraints
ii.    ramp up its collections program which the Committee noted yielded good results 
       during the third quarter of 2015

iii.    revamp the Loan Procedures, have them authorized by the Board and roll out same 
       to the loans officers in the shortest possible time

Computer Changeover Audit
The Committee assisted in ensuring that the balances in the legacy computer system were 
accurately migrated to the new computer system.

The Committee was satisfied that the migration was satisfactorily completed.

Verification of Members’ balances
Regrettably the Committee was not able to undertake this exercise but suggests that the 
new Supervisory Committee undertake this task during 2016.

Meetings
A total of seventeen (17) meetings were held during the period; eleven (11) regular and six 
(6) special.  The records show the attendance status:

Closing remarks
The Committee thanks first of all the junior staff for their support during 
our term of office. Their willingness to remain after their working hours 
during our un-announced audit visit to the branches is much 
appreciated.

The Committee also thanks Management for its co-operation and 
support during the year and in particular for its timely adoption and 
implementation of our suggestions.

Finally, The Committee thanks Miss Geraldine Lewis, Mrs Allison 
Lewis-Warner and Miss Alicia Massiah for their invaluable contribution 
and commitment to the work of the Committee, and you the members 
for allowing us the opportunity to serve during the period 2015 to 2016.  
Special thanks are extended to Mr Norris Pierre whose contributions 
surpassed the call as an alternate member of the Committee before 
being elevated to member status.

Respectfully submitted

Esmé Raphael
Interim Chairman
Supervisory Committee
February 5 2016

37

MEET INGS 
AT T ENDED

NAMES PRESENT EXCUSED ABSENT PRESENT EXCUSED ABSENT TOTAL

Geraldine Lewis (1) 6 3 5 1 11

Alicia Massiah(2) 6 3 4 2 10

Deodath Ramkumar 10 1 1 4 2 14

Allison Lewis-Warner 9 1 1 3 2 1 12

Esmé Raphael 11 6 17

Norris Pierre (3) 9 2 6 15

Ornester King   2 nd Alternate(3) 3 7 1 1 4 1 4

ST AT UT ORY SPECIAL

(1)    On sick leave   (2)    Resigned   (3)    Voluntary – not compulsory to attend meetings.
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Introduction
In accordance with VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (hereinafter 
referred to VENTURE Credit Union) Bye-laws 22(a), 49 and 50(a)-(f), the Supervisory 
Committee is pleased to report to members, it carried out its plan of oversight for the 
period April 2015 to March 2016.

At the Annual General Meeting held on Thursday, March 26, 2015, 
five members and two alternates were elected to serve on the 
Supervisory Committee.
 
 •   Miss Geraldine Lewis  
 •   Miss Alicia Massiah 
 •   Miss Esmé Raphael 
 •   Mr Deodath Ramkumar 
 •   Ms Allison Lewis-Warner  
 •   Mr Norris Pierre - 1st Alternate

 •   Mr Ornester King - 2nd Alternate 

The Committee convened its first meeting on April 13, 2015 to elect 
a Chairperson and a Secretary as per Bye-law 49. 

 •   Miss Geraldine Lewis - Chairperson

 •   Miss Alicia Massiah   - Secretary

During the last quarter of 2015 both the Chairperson and Secretary 
were taken ill thus making them unable to perform the various duties 
of their respective offices. On October 19, 2015, Miss. Esmé 
Raphael and Ms. Alison Lewis-Warner were appointed Interim 
Chairman and Acting Secretary respectively.

On January 11, 2016, the Secretary resigned.  Mrs Allison Lewis-Warner continued in the 
position of Secretary and Mr. Norris Pierre, the first alternate was appointed a member of 
the Committee.  The current composition of the Committee is:

•   Miss Geraldine Lewis   Chairman

•   Miss Esmé Raphael    Interim Chairman

•   Miss Allison Lewis-Warner  Secretary

•   Mr Deodath Ramkumar   Member

•   Mr Norris Pierre    Member

•   Mr Ornester King   2nd Alternate Member

Oath of Secrecy
All elected members and alternate members of the Committee signed an “Oath of 
Secrecy” in accordance with Bye-law 27.

Activities of the Supervisory Committee during 2015
The Committee undertook the following activities prescribed by the Bye-Laws of 
VENTURE Credit Union during 2015:
i.     Elected its Chairman and Secretary
ii     Conducted the election of the Senior Officers/Executive of the Board
iii.    Examined minutes of the Board Meetings
iv.    Attended all statutory meetings of the Board of Directors
v.    Prepared its Audit Plan for 2015
vi.   Reviewed the monthly accounts and drew management’s attention 
       to any inconsistencies observed therein
vii.  Reviewed the work done by the Internal Auditor

Audit Plan 2015: The Committee met with the Internal Auditor and discussed the 
Internal Auditor’s work program for 2015 before developing its audit plan to cover areas 
which were not part of the Internal Audit focus for 2015. 

Implementation of the Audit Plan
Operational audits
During July 2015 members and alternates of the Supervisory Committee visited 
all three branches on the same day and:

     •   Observed the closing cash procedures
     •   The collation of documentation to support members’ applications 
          being forwarded to the Board for acceptance
     •   The documentation supporting the loans issued during the previous week
     •   The general operations of the branch

Summary of findings - Operational Audits
Subsequent to the audit visits, the Committee met and discussed its concerns with 
Management.  In particular the Committee had concerns with:

i.     security procedures with respect to various processes at each branch;
ii.     inadequacies in operational procedures that gave rise to excessive delays in the 
       provision of member services
iii.    the membership application process which gave rise to a number of applications being    
       witheld for more documents: and 
iv.   loan-sales policy and procedures
 
Management considered and investigated the concerns raised by the Committee and 
implemented improvements without undue delay.

Loan audits
As a follow up to the initial visits to the branches, Committee members and alternates, 
undertook a review of the loans procedures and a detailed examination of the 
documentation supporting the following types of loans during the months of August 
through November 2015:

   •   Delinquent loans
   •   KPMG Delinquency Analysis
   •   Business loans
   •   Loans in excess of $1 million

Summary of Findings - Loan Audits
Having reviewed the loans mentioned above and the loans procedures, the Committee 
recommended to Management and the Board to work closely with members to assist them 
in restructuring loan payment to curb/avoid delinquency. This should:

i.     significantly scale down the issue of new business loans in excess of $1 million given 
       the current economic environment and its resource constraints
ii.    ramp up its collections program which the Committee noted yielded good results 
       during the third quarter of 2015

iii.    revamp the Loan Procedures, have them authorized by the Board and roll out same 
       to the loans officers in the shortest possible time

Computer Changeover Audit
The Committee assisted in ensuring that the balances in the legacy computer system were 
accurately migrated to the new computer system.

The Committee was satisfied that the migration was satisfactorily completed.

Verification of Members’ balances
Regrettably the Committee was not able to undertake this exercise but suggests that the 
new Supervisory Committee undertake this task during 2016.

Meetings
A total of seventeen (17) meetings were held during the period; eleven (11) regular and six 
(6) special.  The records show the attendance status:

Closing remarks
The Committee thanks first of all the junior staff for their support during 
our term of office. Their willingness to remain after their working hours 
during our un-announced audit visit to the branches is much 
appreciated.

The Committee also thanks Management for its co-operation and 
support during the year and in particular for its timely adoption and 
implementation of our suggestions.

Finally, The Committee thanks Miss Geraldine Lewis, Mrs Allison 
Lewis-Warner and Miss Alicia Massiah for their invaluable contribution 
and commitment to the work of the Committee, and you the members 
for allowing us the opportunity to serve during the period 2015 to 2016.  
Special thanks are extended to Mr Norris Pierre whose contributions 
surpassed the call as an alternate member of the Committee before 
being elevated to member status.

Respectfully submitted

Esmé Raphael
Interim Chairman
Supervisory Committee
February 5 2016
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December 31, 2015 
 

 Notes 2015 2014 
  $ $ ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 2 85,347,926 72,066,334 
Investments 3 204,572,304 188,590,566 
Loans to members 4 1,059,070,623 874,103,377 
Property, plant and equipment 5 27,973,176 24,597,702 
Intangible asset 6 2,575,164 -       
Investment property 7 333,699 333,699 
Other assets 8       4,820,739 5,097,588 
 
 Total assets                                 1,384,693,631 1,164,789,266  

MEMBERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
MEMBERS’ EQUITY  
Undivided earnings  74,443,275 72,934,689 
Reserve fund                        42,955,938 37,314,447 
 
  117,399,213 110,249,136 
 
LIABILITIES 
Members' deposits 9 118,451,178 109,765,844 
Other funds and liabilities 10 9,875,669 4,419,808 
Members' shares 11     1,138,967,571  940,354,478 
 
  1,267,294,418 1,054,540,130 
 
 Total members’ equity and liabilities                   1,384,693,631 1,164,789,266 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
 
      
President Supervisory Committee Chief Executive Officer (Ag.) 

Statement of Financial Position
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 

Year ended December 31, 2015 
  Notes 2015 2014 
 $ $ 
REVENUE 

Interest on loans  109,263,536   100,566,430  
Income from investments 12 8,735,749   6,171,883  
Other income  973,335   519,349  
     
  118,972,620   107,257,662   

EXPENDITURE 

Personnel costs 14,574,008   10,148,678  
Occupancy costs 4,290,321   3,474,440  
CUNA Insurance 4,115,578   3,736,911  
AGM expenses        381,968  320,275  
Advertising and promotions     1,562,380  2,168,316  
Education        138,111  172,814  
Social events 188,953  174,764  
Insurance 186,147  206,765  
Co-operative costs 1,211,414  901,002  
Depreciation 2,298,202  1,700,825  
Board and Committee expenses 1,210,147  665,149  
Interest on members' deposits and savings 3,107,770  2,602,849  
Office expenses 2,059,134  1,689,335  
Professional fees 2,481,871  2,838,467  
Financial costs 226,505  186,630  

 Other expenses 832,376  574,315  
Provision for loan losses  24,526,528  12,000,000  
    
 63,391,413  43,561,535  

  
NET SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 55,581,207  63,696,127  

 
 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Year ended December 31, 2015 
 
          Total 

 Reserve   Undivided   Members' 
  Fund    Earnings      Equity   
 $ $ $ 

Year ended December 31, 2015 
 
Opening balance as at January 1, 2015  37,314,447 72,934,689 110,249,136 

Transfer from net surplus  5,558,121 50,023,086 55,581,207 

Entrance fees  83,370 -       83,370 

Transfer to Children's Foundation Fund  -       (100,000) (100,000) 

Transfer to Common Good Fund  -       (200,000) (200,000) 

Dividends paid             -       (48,214,500) (48,214,500) 
 
Closing balance as at December 31, 2015  42,955,938   74,443,275 117,399,213 
 
 
Year ended December 31, 2014 
 
Opening balance as at January 1, 2014  30,869,214 65,540,593 96,409,807 

Transfer from net surplus  6,369,613 57,326,514 63,696,127 

Entrance fees  75,620 -       75,620 

Transfer to Children's Foundation Fund  -       (200,000) (200,000) 

Transfer to Common Good Fund  -       (150,000) (150,000) 

Dividends paid             -       (49,582,418) (49,582,418) 
 
Closing balance as at December 31, 2014  37,314,447 72,934,689 110,249,136 
 
  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2015 
 

  2015 2014 
 $ $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net surplus for the year 55,581,207 63,696,127 
Adjustment to reconcile net surplus for the year to net cash  
   used in operating activities:  

Depreciation 2,298,202 1,700,825 
Provision for loan losses 24,815,039 12,000,000 
Write-off of small business contracts -       185,198 
Impairment of deposit due on demand 666,672 -       
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (85,122) -       
Unrealised loss on revaluation of investments 1,049,461 69,413 
Unrealised (gain) loss on foreign currency translation       (45,787)        156,980 
 

Net surplus before changes in assets and liabilities 84,279,672 77,808,543 
Changes in current assets and liabilities 

Change in other assets 302,359 1,608,905 
Change in other funds and liabilities 5,155,861 1,006,679 
Change in loans to members (209,782,285) (152,843,097) 
Change in members’ deposits   (27,475,541) (16,300,495) 
 

 Net cash used in operating activities (147,519,934) (88,719,465) 
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,699,185) (3,109,591) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 85,122 -       
Purchase of intangible asset (2,575,164) -       
Net purchases of investments (17,652,085) (97,759,852) 
 
 Net cash used in investing activities  (25,841,312) (100,869,443) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Change in members' shares 186,559,468 208,057,152 
Entrance fees received          83,370          75,620 

 Net cash from financing activities 186,642,838 208,132,772 
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 13,281,592 18,543,864 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 72,066,334   53,522,470 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Note 2) 85,347,926   72,066,334 
  
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

47



VENTURE’S FOUR PILLARS FOR SUSTAINABLE GROWTH

2015
annual report

HUMAN RESOURCES

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

RISK  MANAGEMENT

BUSINESS  DEVELOPMENT
Notes to Financial Statements

Reporting Entity 
 
Venture Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (“the Society”) is incorporated under the Cooperative Societies Act 1971 of Trinidad and Tobago 
(“the Act”) on March 3, 1997. It was formed in order to improve the economic and social conditions of its members chiefly by promoting savings 
among its members and providing loans to members for provident and productive purposes. Its registered office is #32 Southern Main Road, Couva, 
Trinidad and Tobago. 
 
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on March 11, 2016. 
 
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and its interpretations as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
These financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except the following assets and liabilities which are stated at their fair 
value: financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss, and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale.  
 
Items included in these financial statements are measured using the currency that best reflects the economic situation of the underlying events and 
circumstances relevant to the Society.  The financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars, which is the Society’s functional currency. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 1.  
 

Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below: 
 
a) Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less; and for the purpose of the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are classified as loans and receivables and are carried at amortized cost, which is equivalent to fair value.  
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
b) Investments 

i) Deposits Due on Demand and Fixed Deposits  

Deposits due on demand comprise deposits held with various financial institutions with original maturities of more than one year, which 
have since matured and the Society is awaiting settlement. Fixed deposits comprise deposits with various financial institutions with 
maturities of less than one year.  
 
These deposit instruments are classified as loans and receivables and are carried at amortized cost less impairment losses. 
 

ii) Equity Instruments  

These instruments are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or as available-for-sale.  
 
Fair value through profit or loss 
 
These instruments are either acquired for generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price, or are securities included in a portfolio 
in which a pattern of short-term profit taking exists. These instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to their acquisition.  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, based on their quoted 
market price at the reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs.   
 
Gains and losses, both realised and unrealised, arising from the change in the fair value of equity instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss are recognized in net income. 
 
Available-for-Sale 
 
These instruments are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. Subsequently, 
they are carried at fair value, unless they do not have a quoted market price in an active market and fair value cannot be reliably measured 
in which case they are stated at cost, including transaction costs, less impairment losses. 
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
b) Investments (continued) 

ii) Equity Instruments (continued) 

Available-for-Sale (continued) 
 
Changes in fair value, except for those arising from interest calculated using the effective interest rate, are recognized as a separate 
component of other comprehensive income. Where there is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity instrument 
classified as available-for-sale (which constitutes objective evidence of impairment), the full amount of the impairment, including any 
amount previously recognized in other comprehensive income, is recognized in net income.  
 
Purchases and sales of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are recognized on the settlement date with any change in fair 
value between the trade date and settlement date being recognized in other comprehensive income. On sale, the amount held in other 
comprehensive income associated with that instrument is removed from equity and recognized in net income. 
 

iii) Corporate Bonds, Notes and Repurchase Agreements  

Held-to-Maturity 
 
Held-to-maturity assets are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities, which the Society has the intent and 
ability to hold to maturity. All held-to-maturity assets are measured at cost less impairment losses.   
 
Available-for-Sale 
 
These instruments are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. Subsequently, they are 
stated at cost, including transaction costs, less impairment losses as they do not have a quoted market price in an active market and fair 
value cannot be reliably measured. 

 
c) Loans to members 

Member loans are initially measured at fair value, net of loan origination fees and inclusive of transaction costs incurred. They are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Loans to members are reported at their 
recoverable amount representing the aggregate amount of principal, less any allowance or provision for impaired loans. 
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
c) Loans to members (continued) 

The Society maintains a loan loss provision, which in management’s opinion, is adequate to absorb all incurred credit-related losses in its loan 
portfolio.  Provisions for loan losses are calculated using a formula method taking into account recent loss experience.   
 
Loans are written-off after all the necessary legal procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss is fully determinable.  

 
d) Property, plant and equipment 

 Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses, with the exception of land which is not depreciated. Upon retirement or disposal of property, plant and 
equipment, the gain or loss, if any, is reflected in net income for the year.  Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis at rates estimated 
to write off the costs of the assets over their estimated useful lives. 

 
 The annual depreciation rates used are as follows: 

 Leasehold improvements 20% 
 Furniture and equipment 20% 
 Computer equipment 20% - 33.33% 
 Vehicles 20% 
 Buildings 2% 
 
 The assets’ residual value, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting date.  All other 

repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
e) Investment property 

 The Society's investment property consists of freehold land held for capital appreciation.  Investment property is initially measured at cost and 
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Land is not depreciated.   

 
f) Intangible asset  

The Society’s intangible assets are initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Upon retirement or disposal of the intangible asset, the gain or loss, if any, is reflected in net income for the 
year.  Amortization is provided on the straight-line basis over ten years which is estimated to write off the costs of the assets over their estimated 
useful lives. Annual license fees and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
g) Impairment  

The carrying amounts of the Society’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If 
any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of 
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

 
The recoverable amount of the Society’s financial assets is calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets).  Receivables with a short 
duration are not discounted. 

 
 The recoverable amount of the non-financial assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 
 An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 
 
 An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 
h) Members’ deposits 

 All member deposits are initially measured at fair value, net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument. 
Member deposits are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method.  

 
Retiree members’ deposits represent funds collected from members that have been invested on their behalf. They are initially measured at fair value, 
net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument and subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.  

i) Other funds and liabilities 

Liabilities for trade creditors and other payables are classified as other financial liabilities and initially measured at fair value net of any transaction 
costs directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument and subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
i) Other funds and liabilities (continued) 

Included within this financial statement caption are the following funds: 

i) Children’s Foundation fund 

This comprises funds collected from members, fund raising events of the Society and allocations from net surplus after statutory deductions 
to the Reserve Fund (approved by the membership at the Annual General Meeting), to assist underprivileged children in Trinidad and 
Tobago. 

 
ii) Common Good fund 

This represents funds allocated from net surplus after statutory deduction to the Reserve Fund (approved by the membership at the Annual 
General Meeting), to assist individuals, schools and non-profit organizations for social, educational, cultural and charitable purposes. 

 
j) Provisions 

 Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have arisen as a result of past transactions, including legal or 
constructive obligations. The provision is measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. 

 
k) Members’ shares 

Upon opening an account at the Society, new members are required to subscribe for a minimum of one share. Subsequently, every member 
subscribes at least one share per month to his/her share capital in the Society. Members can withdraw all or any portion of their unencumbered 
shares from the Society at any time. 
 
Members’ shares are classified as other financial liabilities under the International Accounting Standard (IAS) 32 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure and Presentation and are measured at par value.   
 
Dividends are paid on an annual basis at rates that are determined at the Annual General Meeting of members of the Society. Dividends are 
calculated based on the monthly minimum share balance of each active member of the Society and distributed via additional shares and credits 
to members’ deposits.  
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
l) Reserve fund 

In accordance with the Act (Section 47(2)) and Bye Law 58 of the Society, at least 10% of the net surplus of each year is transferred to the 
Reserve Fund.  The reserve fund is indivisible and no member is entitled to any specific share thereof. 
 
Under Regulation 47 of the Co-operative Society Act 1971, the Reserve Fund of a society may, with the approval of the Commissioner, be 
applied to meet bad debts or losses sustained through extraordinary circumstances over which the Society has no control. 

 
m) Revenue recognition  

Interest on loans is accounted for on the receipts basis.  The interest charged on loans to members is calculated at rates varying between 1% and 
1.5% per month on the reducing balance. 

 
n) Foreign currency 

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Trinidad and Tobago dollars at the foreign exchange rate ruling at 
that date.  Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.  There are no non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency. 

 
o) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, 
and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the financial 
statements of the Society, except for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which is not expected to become mandatory before the Society’s 2018 
financial statements and could change the classification and measurement of financial assets. The Society does not plan to adopt this standard 
early and the extent of the impact has not been determined. 

 
p) Comparatives

 
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.
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1.  Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

 
 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 

which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 

 
Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the next financial year are discussed below: 

 
(i) Allowances for credit losses 

Loans accounted for at amortised cost are evaluated for impairment on a basis described in significant accounting policy (g). 
 
(ii) Financial asset and liability classification 

The Society’s accounting policies provide scope for assets and liabilities to be designated on inception into different accounting categories.  
In classifying financial assets or liabilities as “fair value through profit or loss”, the Society has determined that it meets the description 
of trading assets and liabilities. 

 
(iii) Deposits due on demand 

 The directors have deemed that a provision for the full amount is required over 3 years for the amounts due from First National Credit 
Union which matured in June 2007. See Note 3 for further details. 

        2015 2014 
  $ $ 
2. Cash and Cash Equivalents  

T&T Unit Trust Corporation - Second Unit Scheme 479,324 5,442,124 
Roytrin Money Market Fund 50,052,046 24,245,653  
KCL Capital Market Brokers Limited - Participation Investments 246,269 13,235,047  
Guardian Asset Management Limited    
- Private Wealth Client Cash Accounts 866,751 864,228  
Cash at Bank 33,230,313 18,649,688  
Cash on Hand      473,223  9,629,594   

 85,347,926 72,066,334  
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     Ordinary  
 Shares or Units   2015 2014 
   $ $ 

3. Investments  

 Fair value through profit or loss 

 ANSA TTD Income Fund  962 502,036 17,475,474 
 First Citizens Bank Limited 201,828 7,063,980 7,479,746 
 T&T Unit Trust Corporation - First Unit Scheme 128,928 2,222,717 11,905,024 
 Guardian Asset Management Limited (GAML) 
  - TTD Income Fund 14,317 143,173   3,130,211 
 GAML - USD Income Fund 8,766 562,723 1,598,730 
 Manulife Mutual Funds 27,040 1,247,361 1,485,000 

Roytrin Income & Growth Fund 3,402,673 9,333,532 5,585,274 
First Citizens Bank Limited Abercrombie Fund 4,774 95,490 8,072,955 
First Citizens Bank Limited Paria Fund  2,124 136,276 132,876 

 Republic Bank Limited 15,099  1,690,031 1,288,402 
 ANSA TTD Secured Fund 1,080  1,080,321 1,080,321 
 Neal & Massy Holdings Limited 67,325 4,137,121 3,521,700 
 Angostura Holdings Limited 25,000 349,250 337,500 
 Guardian Holdings Limited 70,264 930,998 517,598 
 Clico Investment Fund  114,478 2,604,375 859,123 
 Savinvest India Asia Fund 8,503  490,803 534,101 
 Unilever Caribbean Limited 29,859  2,039,370 910,676 
 Royal Bank of Canada 848  295,981 371,230 
 Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago Limited 11,447  709,027 704,219 
 Trinidad Cement Limited 159,816 637,666 399,540 
 ANSA Merchant Bank Limited 28,695  1,117,957 624,967 
 Point Lisas Industrial Port Development 
    Corporation Limited  78,606  308,136 294,773 

Guardian Asset Management Limited 
  - Mutual Funds 3,992 231,278 239,834 
 One Caribbean Media Limited 44,212 972,664 1,105,300 
 National Enterprises Limited  31,000  507,470 540,020 
 Agostini Limited 9,844 168,726 172,270 
 Prestige Holdings Limited 7,433  75,073 71,060 
 National Flour Mills Limited 3,628 9,796 4,172 
 Grace Kennedy Limited 43,500 176,175 158,775 
 Guardian Media Limited  25,000 493,750 494,250 
 West Indian Tobacco Company Limited 22,527 2,844,935 1,182,604 
 Sagicor Financial Corporation 61,160 379,192 -       
 T&T NGL Limited 41,026 882,059 -       

 Total fair value through profit or loss  44,439,442 72,277,725 
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3. Investments (continued) 
 
 Held-to-Maturity 

 KCL Capital Market Brokers Ltd.  
    - TTD Participatory Investments 44,724,085 40,267,550 
 KCL Capital Market Brokers Ltd.  
    - USD Participatory Investments 4,507,341 4,432,776 
 Giant Screen Entertainment Holding Limited 9,970,500 -       
 JMMB: 1 year Repurchase Agreements 2014 TTD -       4,000,000 
 JMMB: 1 year Repurchase Agreements 2014 USD -       1,304,657 
 KSBM: Goldman Sachs backed 
    1 year Repurchase Agreement 2015  2,063,051 1,960,311 
 KSBM: 1 year USD Repurchase Agreements 2015  8,398,271 3,295,694 
 Firstline Securities Limited  
    - TTD Participatory Investments  29,975,947 22,079,221 
 NIPDEC 6.55% Fixed Rate Bond 2030  2,224,874 2,265,355 
 Value Asset International SA Bond 2015  -       748,845 
 Value Asset International SA Bond 2025  15,555,194 -       
 Guardian Holdings Limited 4.25% Note 2019   4,988,317 4,999,421 

Massy Holding Limited 5.25% Fixed Rate Bond 2029 4,309,595 4,311,250 
Petrotrin $850M 9.75% Bond due 2019 1,499,658 759,186 
Petrotrin 6% Bond 2022 347,728 -      
T & T Mortgage Finance Co. Ltd. 4.56% Fixed Rate Bond 2024  2,000,000 2,000,000 
T & T Mortgage Finance Co. Ltd. 4.24% Fixed Rate Bond 2025  3,000,000 -       
T & T Mortgage Finance Co. Ltd. 4.56% Fixed Rate Bond 2021  4,902,967 -       
Government of Barbados 7.0% Bond 2022 538,181 529,187 
US West Communication Inc 6.875% Debenture 2033 826,065 958,787 
Cliffs Natural Resource Inc SR Secured Bond 2020 856,563 831,801 
Newfield Exploration Co SR Subd 6.875% Bond 2020 -       661,492 
Petrobras Global Finance SR Secured 2.0% Bond due 2016 314,612      298,634  
Genworth Financial Inc. 7.7% Bond 2020 664,147 -       
Odebrecht Financial 5.125% Fixed Rate Bond 2022 1,082,473 -       
Transocean Inc. 6.5% Bond 2020 732,993 -       
Prospect Capital Corp. 5.875% Bond 2023 658,958 -       
Cliffs Natural Resource Inc SR Secured Bond 2020 856,563 831,801 
Newfield Exploration Co SR Subd 6.875% Bond 2020 -       661,492 
Petrobras Global Finance SR Secured 2.0% Bond due 2016 314,612      298,634  
Genworth Financial Inc. 7.7% Bond 2020 664,147 -       
Odebrecht Financial 5.125% Fixed Rate Bond 2022 1,082,473 -       
Transocean Inc. 6.5% Bond 2020 732,993 -       
Prospect Capital Corp. 5.875% Bond 2023 658,958 -       
US Steel Corporation 7.375% Bond 2020        326,239 -        

 Total held-to-maturity 144,467,759 95,704,167 
 

2015 2014 
  $ $ 

57





HUMAN RESOURCES

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

RISK  MANAGEMENT

BUSINESS  DEVELOPMENT
Notes to Financial Statements

      2015 2014 
 $ $ 

4. Loans to Members  

 4.1 Concentration of credit 
  Ordinary loans 368,229,119 340,284,489 
  Real estate loans 169,393,468 145,087,403 
  Special loans 172,408,987 137,374,565 
  Small business loans 196,982,962 90,438,484 
  Debt consolidation loans 90,918,179 80,592,112 
  Car loans 82,873,196 73,267,763 
  Soft mortgages 18,861,932 22,218,565 
  Medical/education loans 5,479,857    5,982,249 
  Personnel loans             17,912 137,697 

   1,105,165,612 895,383,327 
  Less: Provision for loan losses   (46,094,989) (21,279,950) 

  Total loans net of provision for loan losses 1,059,070,623 874,103,377 
 
 4.2 Terms and conditions 

Member loans carry a fixed rate of interest and varied between 0.5% and 1.5% for the year ended December 31, 2015.  
 
Ordinary loans consist of term loans that are not real estate or vehicle secured and, as such, have various repayment terms.  
 
Car loans consist of term loans secured by the vehicle being purchased. A down payment into members’ shares is required depending on 
the status of the vehicle being purchased (10% down payment into member’s shares for new vehicles, 20% down payment for foreign 
used vehicles, and 30% down payment for local used vehicles). 
 
Mortgages (real estate loans and soft mortgages) are loans and lines of credit secured by the residential property (freehold or leasehold 
land and/or building). 10% of the requested loan must be held in members’ shares prior to acquisition of the loan. 

Small business loans consist of term loans to sole traders, partnerships and companies and are secured by various types of collateral.

Medical/education loans consist of term loans to members with sudden illnesses, accidents or tertiary education financing needs.
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4. Loans to Members (continued) 
 
 4.2 Terms and conditions (continued) 

 
Special loans may consist of term loans of any of the above categories and are offered to long-standing members of the Society or members 
employed by a host company. They are offered preferential rates of interest and repayment terms. 
 
Debt consolidation loans are used by members to consolidate existing debt. 
 

         2015 2014 
 $ $ 
 4.3 Aging of loans to members  

  Principal neither past due nor impaired 808,541,665 657,796,803 
  Principal which is past due but not impaired 220,835,789 184,470,719 
  Principal which is impaired                                                    75,788,158   53,115,805 

  Gross loans 1,105,165,612 895,383,327 
  Provision for loan losses                                                      (46,094,989)    (21,279,950) 

  Total loans net of provision for loan losses       1,059,070,623       874,103,377 

 
 4.4 Loans past due but not impaired 

 Less than 30 days 61,672,984 77,325,060 
 30 – 60 days                    57,101,378 27,327,024 
 61 – 90 days 22,509,361 9,071,423 

 Greater than 90 days _79,552,066        70,747,212 

   220,835,789 184,470,719 
 
4.5 Analysis of movement in provision for loan losses 

  Provision, beginning of year 21,279,950 10,770,378 

  Add: Provision for the year charged to net income       24,526,528 12,000,000 
  Less: Loans written off against provision, 
           net of recoveries made       288,511    (1,490,428) 

  Provision, end of year 46,094,989 21,279,950 
 
 The above represents a collective provision for loan losses. An estimate of the collective provision is based on the period of repayments that 

are past due.
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9.  Members’ Deposits 
         2015 2014 

 $ $ 
 
 Venture deposit 71,828,829 65,667,562 
 Members Savings deposit 26,683,774 27,347,464 
 Retiree Members deposit 5,138,181 5,789,182 
 Members Savings plan 5,054,925 4,805,361 
 Members Special deposit 2,143,246 1,470,236 
 Members USD Fixed deposit                                                             7,602,223    4,686,039 
 
                                                                                                                    118,451,178 109,765,844 
 

Terms and Conditions 

Venture Deposit represents member funds placed with the Society for a fixed term, usually one year, on which interest is paid monthly to 
members at rates varying between 1.75% and 3.5% per annum. The minimum investment amount is $20,000. 

   
Members Savings Deposit represents funds placed by members on deposit from which they can withdraw funds to meet their day to day living 
expenses. No interest is paid on this account. 
 
Retiree Members Deposit represents fund collected from members who are retirees which have been specially invested on their behalf in other 
securities at competitive interest rates. Interest is paid monthly. 

  
Members Savings Plan represents savings plans operated on behalf of host companies for their employees on terms and conditions negotiated 
with the Society. 

  
Members Special Deposit represents funds placed by members on deposit to be uploaded by the Society to Intercommercial Bank Limited to 
facilitate the use of the Venture Visa Debit Card. 

  
Members USD Fixed Deposit represents members US$ funds placed with the Society for one (1) year at 1% per annum.  The minimum 
investment amount is US$15,000.  Interest is paid upon maturity. 
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10.  Other Funds and Liabilities 
     2015 2014 

 $ $ 
 Other funds and liabilities consist of the following: 

 Christmas venture 1,126,000 1,177,481 
 Accounts payable    5,115,319  1,245,965 
 CCULTT dues reserve 904,689 702,553 
 Death claims payable 815,184 -       
 Provision for employee benefits 435,906 435,906 
 Life Savings/Loan Protection Premium 363,280 330,760 
 Other  390,892 234,697 
 Employee benefits payable 281,126 -       
 Children’s Foundation fund 247,108 207,742 
 Unclaimed shares 133,676 -       
 Unverified deposits 41,893 32,323 
 Common Good fund                                                                               20,596      52,381 

                                                                                                             9,875,669 4,419,808 
 
11.  Members’ Shares 

The Society’s ability to lend is built upon the foundation of shares savings.  The value of a share is twenty dollars ($20.00). Members agree to 
save at least one share per month in order to maintain active financial status.  Savings can be made via: 

(i) Cash and cheque payments, 
(ii) Salary deductions, 
(iii) Standing orders, and/or 
(iv) Postdated cheques 

Members can use their share savings as collateral for loans. Dividends are paid on a yearly basis at a rate that is determined at Annual General 
Meetings. 
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12.  Investment Income 
     2015 2014 

 $ $ 
 Investment income comprises the following: 

 Net unrealized (loss) gain on revaluation (1,049,461)   (69,413) 
 Interest income 9,006,744 5,456,228 
 Dividend income 761,917    738,746 
 Gain on sale of investments                                                                    16,549              46,322 

          8,735,749 6,171,883 
13. Income Tax  
 

The profits arising from the Society are exempt from income tax.    
 
 
14. Related Parties 
 

(a) Identity of a related party 

A party is related to the Society if: 

(i) Directly or indirectly, the party 

• controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Society; 

• has an interest in the Society that gives it significant influence over the Society; or 

• has joint control over the Society.  

(ii) The party is a member of the key management personnel of the Society. 

(iii) The party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (ii) above. 
 

(iv) The party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Society, or any company that is a related party of 
the Society. 

 
(b) Related party transactions and balances 

A number of banking transactions have been entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These transactions were 
conducted at market rates, on commercial terms and conditions, except for certain loans made available to officers. Loans deemed to be 
below market rates in accordance with personal income tax legislation are taxed as dictated for in law.  
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        2015 2014 
$ $ 

(i) Outstanding balances 

Member loans to directors and 
 key management personnel                                             6,712,172      

  
7,669,435 

Member deposits held by directors and  
 key management personnel                                    (988,591)       (825,704) 

Member shares held by directors and  
 key management personnel                    (16,924,777) (16,779,100) 

14. Related Parties (continued) 
 

(b) Related party transactions and balances (continued) 

 (i) Outstanding balances (continued) 

There were no provisions for loan losses related to the loans outstanding from directors and key management personnel.  
 

        2015 2014 
 $ $ (ii) Transactions 

 Interest income earned on member loans to  
 Directors and key management personnel 568,539 571,033 
 
 Interest expenses incurred on member deposits  
  and shares held by directors and key  
  management personnel     (25,778) (17,704) 

 (c) Transactions with key management personnel 

Key management comprises individuals responsible for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Society  
Key management compensation: 
Short-term benefits 692,000 1,031,000 

 

14. Related Parties (continued) 
 (b) Related party transactions and balances (continued) 

 (i) Outstanding balances (continued) 

There were no provisions for loan losses related to the loans outstanding from directors and key management personnel.  
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15. Financial Instruments 
 
a) Overview 

The Society’s investment activities expose it to a number of financial risks: 

• Credit risk 
• Liquidity risk 
• Market risk 

Risk Management Framework 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the management of financial and other risks faced by the Society. The Board 
establishes and monitors the risk management policies of the organisation which are reviewed regularly to reflect market conditions and 
the Society’s activities. 

15. Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
a) Overview (continued) 

Risk Management Framework (continued) 

The Supervisory Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Society’s risk management policies and procedures, and 
for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Society. The Supervisory Committee 
is assisted in these functions by the Audit Technician and Credit Committee.  

 
b) Credit risk  

Credit risk arises from the possibility that counterparts may default on their obligation to the Society. The amount of the Society’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying amount of its financial assets. Financial assets which potentially expose the 
Society to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of loans to members. 

Loans 

Management of credit risk 

The Credit Committee is responsible for the granting and general supervision of all loans to members in accordance with the Loan and 
Mortgage Policy established by the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors may from time to time revise the Loan Policy to reflect 
market conditions and the activities of the Society.  Loans Officers have delegated authority to approve loans within specified limits.  The 
Credit Committee and Loans Officers perform internal credit assessments but also rely on external credit reports before loans are granted 
to members.  Once members have the capacity to repay, loans are granted in accordance with the terms and conditions outlined in the 
Loan Policy.  The Credit Committee submits a report to the Board of Directors on its activities on a quarterly basis.  
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The Society has a Delinquency Department which actively monitors members’ loans in arrears on a monthly basis.  Delinquent members are 
contacted and reminded of their responsibility to repay their loans in accordance with the loan agreement signed between them and the Society.  
The Department has the authority to seize and liquidate members’ shares and other collateral to recover the loan outstanding.  The Society may 
also seek further redress by referring the matter to the Commissioner for Co-operative Development to obtain judgment against the member in 
accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act 1971. 

15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

b) Credit risk (continued) 

Loans (continued) 

Allowance for Impairment 

The Society monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended. Allowances are established on an aggregate basis on all 
loans classified as bad debt for a period of one year. 

 
Investments 

The Society limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities i.e. securities traded on the open market and in fixed 
deposits held with reputable financial institutions.  

 
Exposure to credit risk 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date was: 
 
 Carrying amount 
          2015 2014 
 $ $ 
 
Investments  204,572,304 188,590,566 
Loans to members  1,105,165,612 895,383,327 
Other assets 4,820,739 5,097,588 
Cash and cash equivalents                                                   85,347,926        72,066,334 
 
 1,399,906,581 1,161,137,815 
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Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign currency, that is, in a currency 
other than the functional currency in which they are measured. 

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts. 

d) Market risks 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Society’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  
 

c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society may not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.   
Management of liquidity risk 

The Society’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it has sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities without 
incurring losses or risking damage to its reputation. In order to achieve this objective the Society maintains a certain percentage of its total 
assets in cash, fixed deposits (maturing 3 months – 1 year) and money market instruments to meet demands for cash withdrawals and 
other short-term liabilities.  The Society also monitors its cash balances on a daily basis and maintains an overdraft facility of $1 million 
with its bankers.

15. Financial Instruments (continued)  
c) Liquidity risk (continued) 

Management of liquidity risk (continued) 

The table below shows the maturities of financial instruments:  
 Due on    Up to   Two to Over five  
 Demand  one year five years    years      Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
December 31, 2015 

Members’ Shares 1,138,967,571  -       -       -          1,138,967,571 
Other funds and liabilities -       9,875,669 -       -       9,875,669 
Members’ deposits                           33,881,945      63,108,708      20,443,475    1,017,050      118,451,178 

                                                    1,172,849,516  72,984,377       20,443,475   1,017,050    1,267,294,418 
 
December 31, 2014 

Members’ Shares 940,354,478 -       -       -       940,354,478 
Other funds and liabilities -       4,419,808 -       -       4,419,808 
Members’ deposits   33,623,061 59,636,060  16,006,723 500,000 109,765,844 

 973,977,539  64,055,868 16,006,723 500,000 1,054,540,130 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 
 d) Market risks (continued) 
Foreign currency risk (continued) 

Exposure to foreign currency risk 

The Society’s exposure to currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts: 
 

 TTD USD CAD Total 
 $ $ $ $ 

Year ended December 31, 2015 

Cash and cash equivalents  78,961,046 6,386,880 - 85,347,926 
Investments     159,875,258 44,124,884 572,162 204,572,304 
     
 238,836,304 50,511,764 572,162 289,920,230 
 
Year ended December 31, 2014 

Cash and cash equivalents  70,176,283 1,890,051 -       72,066,334 
Investments     165,249,175 22,640,675 700,716 188,590,566 
 
 235,425,458  24,530,726 700,716 260,656,900 
 
The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:  

      2015 2014 
Reporting date spot rate: 
 
USD 1    6.4196    6.3134 
CAD 1                                                                                            4.6708 5.5560 
 
Sensitivity analysis 

At December 31, 2015, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the United States dollar (USD) with all other variables 
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $2,525,588 (2014: $1,226,536) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange 
losses/gains on translation of USD denominated balances. 
 
At December 31, 2015, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the Canadian dollar (CAD) with all other variables 
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $28,608 (2014: $35,036) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange 
losses/gains on translation of CAD denominated balances. 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

d) Market risks (continued) 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. Interest rate risk arises on interest-bearing financial instruments recognized in the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Management of interest rate risk 

The primary goal of the Society’s investment strategy is to maximize investment returns while maintaining risks at an acceptable level. 
The value of the Society’s financial investments will fluctuate due to changes in market prices of the quoted equity and debt securities. 
The Society manages market risks by using the following strategies: 

 
• Investing a certain percentage of total assets in financial instruments and monitoring the mix of debt and equity securities in its 

investment portfolio based on market expectation 
 
• Monitoring the price movements of debt and equity securities on a monthly basis in order to determine market trends 
 
• Investing in debt and equity securities that that do not have a documented history of high price volatility and are easily tradable 
 
• Relying on advice from external professional financial advisors before making a decision to buy or sell investments, and  
 
• Decisions to buy and sell investments must be approved by the Board of Directors.     
 
Profile 

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Society’s interest-bearing financial instruments was: 
 Carrying Amount 

         2015 2014 
 $ $ 
Fixed rate instruments 

Financial assets  1,242,003,435 1,017,692,628 
Financial liabilities (118,451,178)      (109,765,844) 

 1,123,552,257    907,926,784 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

d) Market risks (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued 

Profile (continued) 

 Carrying Amount 
          2015 2014 
 $ $ 

Variable rate instruments 

Financial assets 44,176,344 66,484,289 
 

 Sensitivity analysis 

The Society does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a change in 
interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss. 
 
A change of 1% in interest rates would have increased or decreased equity by $441,763 (2014: $664,843). 
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e)      Fair value measurements
         At year end, the financial instruments were measured at fair value as follows:
                                                  2015                  2014
                                                      $                        $

         Level 1                                       44,658,226           74,226,513
         Level 2                                         2,575,005             2,532,406
         Level 3                                            859,000                859,000
                                       48,092,231           77,617,919
f)      Capital management

The board seeks to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain shareholder and creditor confidence. The Society defines capital as total members’ equity 
and reserves. There were no changes in the Society’s approach to capital management during the year. The Society is not subject to any externally-imposed 
capital requirement. 

16.    Contingent Liabilities
         As at December 31, 2015, there were no contingent liabilities (2014: NIL). 
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VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

BUDGET 2016 2016 2015
TOTAL

$ $
TOTAL

INCOME

Interest on Loans 128,941,438 111,511,398
Income from Investments/Fixed deposits 6,130,483 4,826,070
Other income 914,500 757,500

TOTAL INCOME 135,986,421 117,094,968

EXPENDITURE

Personnel Costs 20,920,924 17,902,525
Occupancy Costs 4,379,226 4,030,200
CUNA insurance 4,504,180 4,068,279
Annual General Meeting 516,500 396,500
Special General Meeting 40,000 40,000
Advertising & Promotions 1,771,700 2,280,700
Insurances 397,000 345,400
Co-operative costs 1,585,000 1,235,000
Depreciation 4,247,658 2,800,057
Board & Committee Expenses 1,723,800 1,321,800
Interest on members' deposits & savings 3,490,085 2,980,399
Office Expenses 2,617,100 1,841,800
Professional fees 4,830,589 6,866,285
Financial Costs 205,000 153,000
Provision for loan losses 12,000,000 6,526,519
Investment write off 666,667 667,000
Social Event 250,000 250,000
Other Expenses 433,500 504,500
Education 612,000 627,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 65,190,929 54,836,964

NET SURPLUS 70,795,492 62,258,004

CAPITAL BUDGET 9,452,933 26,430,972

77









Attorneys-at-Law:
Michael A.A. Quamina

Attorney-at-Law
Chancery Chambers, 108 Duke Street, Port Of Spain

Girwar and Deonarine
Attorney-at-Law 

No. 17-19 Court Street, San Fernando
KR Lalla and Company

Attorney-at-Law
No. 41 Edward Street, Port Of Spain

Dave Persad
Attorney-at-Law

No. 39 Southern Main Road, Couva
Kwasi Bekoe

Attorney-at-Law BEKl 982004 
No. 56 Sackville Street, Port of Spain

 
Member Of:

Trinidad and Tobago Credit Union Deposit Insurance Fund Co-operative Society Limited
Central Finance Facility (CFF) 

Association of Cooperative Credit Union Presidents of Trinidad and Tobago (ACCUPTT) 

Auditors
KPMG 

Trinre Building, 69-71 Edward Street,
PO Box 1328, Port of Spain

Bankers
RBC Royal Bank Limited

Republic Bank Limited
Scotiabank Trinidad Limited

Intercommercial Bank Limited
First Citizens Bank Limited 

Insurers 
CUNA Caribbean Insurance Society Limited

Trinidad and Tobago Credit Union Deposit  Insurance Fund Co-operative Society Limited .
CIC Insurance Brokers Limited

Website: www.venturecreditunion.com



1-868-225-4VCU (4828)


